# **TENTATIVE**

# AGREEMENT COVERING TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

**OUTSIDE PLANT PERSONNEL** 

Between

CHUGACH ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, INC. Anchorage, Alaska

And

LOCAL NO. 1547
INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF
ELECTRICAL WORKERS,
AFL-CIO
Anchorage, Alaska

Expires June 30, 2010

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PREAMBLE1		
ARTICLE 1 SCOP	E AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT	2
SECTION 1.1	SCOPE	2
SECTION 1.2	DURATION	2
SECTION 1.3	NO STRIKE AGREEMENT	2
ARTICLE 2 EMPL	OYER-UNION RELATIONS	2
SECTION 2.1	LEGAL STATUS OF THE PARTIES	2
SECTION 2.2	UNION AS SOLE BARGAINING AGENT	3
SECTION 2.3	UNION SHOP	3
SECTION 2.4	MANAGEMENT PREROGATIVES OF THE EMPLOYER	3
SECTION 2.5	STANDARDS OF WORK	
SECTION 2.6	SHOP STEWARDS	
SECTION 2.6A	LETTER OF INTENT	4
SECTION 2.7	LEAVE TO ACCEPT UNION OFFICE	
SECTION 2.8	GOOD STANDING WITH THE UNION	
SECTION 2.9	UNION BULLETIN BOARD	5
SECTION 2.10	UNION ACCESS TO EMPLOYER'S PREMISES	5
SECTION 2.11	LOAN OF EMPLOYEES	5
SECTION 2.12	HIRING HALL	6
2.12.1		6
2.12.2		6
2.12.3	***************************************	6
2.12.4	***************************************	6
2.12.5	Non-Discrimination	
2.12.6	***************************************	
SECTION 2.13	CONTRACTING OUT - PURPOSE	7
<b>SECTION 2.13.1</b>	EROSION OF WORK FORCE	
<b>SECTION 2.13.2</b>	WARRANTY WORK	7
<b>SECTION 2.13.3</b>	UNION SIGNATORY CLAUSE	8
<b>SECTION 2.13.4</b>	METHODS OF DISPUTE RESOLUTION	9
SECTION 2.14	EMPLOYEE ACCESS TO PERSONNEL RECORD	9
SECTION 2.15	SEMINARS, WORKSHOPS AND OTHER MEETINGS	
ARTICLE 3 APPOL	INTMENT AND TENURE	<b>1</b> 0
SECTION 3.1		
SECTION 3.1.1	NECA-TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES	
SECTION 3.1.2	PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES	
<b>SECTION 3.1.3</b>	REGULAR EMPLOYEES	11
<b>SECTION 3.1.4</b>	TRANSFER OF TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES TO PROBATIONARY OR REGULA	
	STATUS	11
<b>SECTION 3.1.5</b>	TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES	
		12

3.2.1	SERVICE CREDIT	12
3.2.2	SENIORITY	12
SECTION 3.3	TERMINATION OF SENIORITY	
3.3.1	***************************************	12
3.3.2		12
3.3.3		12
SECTION 3.4	VACANCIES	12
3.4.1	JOB POSTING	
3.4.2	JOB BIDDING	
3.4.3		13
3.4.4	JOB AWARD	
3.4.5	ASSIGNED POSITIONS	
SECTION 3.5	REDUCTION-IN-FORCE	14
ARTICLE 4 ANNU	AL LEAVE AND HOLIDAYS	15
SECTION 4.1	ANNUAL LEAVE	
SECTION 4.2	SCHEDULING OF LEAVE	16
4.2.1		
4.2.2		16
4.2.2.1		
4.2.3	EMERGENCY LEAVE	16
4.2.3.1	Bereavement Leave	
4.2.4		
SECTION 4.3	LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	17
4.3.1	USE OF LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	
4.3.2	NOTIFICATION	
SECTION 4.4	SICK OR DISABILITY LEAVE	
4.4.1	SICK OR DISABILITY LEAVE	
4.4.2	MEDICAL VERIFICATION	
4.4.3	SUBSTANCE ABUSE TREATMENT OPPORTUNITY	
4.4.4	EMPLOYEE RESPONSIBILITY - TREATMENT	
4.4.5	WORKER'S COMPENSATION	18
4.4.6.	PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS ON WORKER'S COMPENSATION PAY	19
SECTION 4.5.	HOLIDAYS	19
4.5.1		19
4.5.2	***************************************	19
4.5.3		
4.5.4		20
SECTION 4.6	JURY DUTY	20
SECTION 4.7	VOTING TIME	20
SECTION 4.8	PAYMENT IN ADDITION TO WORKER'S COMPENSATION	
4.8.1	CERTIFICATION UPON RETURN TO WORK	21
SECTION 4.9	PREGNANCY LEAVE	21
SECTION 4.10	MILITARY LEAVE	22
SECTION 4.11	BLOOD BANK	22
SECTION 4.12	EMPLOYEE NOTICE OF ABSENCE	22
ARTICLE 5 HOUR	S OF WORK AND COMPENSATION	22

SECTION 5.1	WORKDAY AND WORKWEEK	
5.1.1		22
5.1.2	MEALS	.22
5.1.2.1		.22
5.1.2.2		.23
5.1.2.3		
5.1.2.4		
5.1.2.6		
5.1.2.7		.23
5.1.2.8		
5.1.2.9		
5.1.3	WORKDAY, WORKWEEK, FLEXIBLE WORKDAY, OPTIONAL WORKWEEK	24
5.1.3.1	Swing Shift	
5.1.3.2	Mid-Shift	
5.1.3.3	Night Shop Mechanic	
5.1.3.4	Tuesday-Saturday and Sunday-Thursday Loop-Wagon	
5.1.3.5	Mechanics Helper	25
5.1.3.6	Construction and Maintenance Classifications	25
5.1.3.7	Night Warehouseman	
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Flexible Workday	
5.1.3.8 SECTION 5.2	COMPENSATION	
	REGULAR	
5.2.1		
5.2.2	OVERTIME	
5.2.3	HOLIDAY COMPENSATION	
5.2.4	COMPENSATION DURING OR IN LIEU OF ANNUAL LEAVE	
5.2.5	CALL-OUT PAY	
5.2.6	CALL-IN PAY	
5.2.7	PER DIEM	
5.2.8	RELIEF	
5.2.9	NOTICE FOR OUT OF TOWN WORK	
SECTION 5.3	COMPENSATION OF EMPLOYEE WORKING IN HIGHER CLASSIFICATION	
5.3.1		
SECTION 5.4	TEMPORARY TRANSFER TO LOWER CLASSIFICATION	
SECTION 5.5	AIR TRAVEL	.28
5.5.1	NO FLYING ROSTER	
SECTION 5.6	PAY PERIOD AND PAYDAY	
5.6.1	WAGE DISCREPANCIES	
SECTION 5.7	PAY ON TERMINATION	
SECTION 5.8	STATUTORY EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	.29
SECTION 5.9	LONGEVITY	.29
SECTION 5.10	MOVING EXPENSES	.29
SECTION 5.11	PYRAMIDING OF OVERTIME	.29
SECTION 5.12	HOT-STICK WORK	
SECTION 5.13	HIGH WORK	
SECTION 5.14	LICENSING AND CERTIFICATIONS	
ARTICLE 6 APPRI	ENTICES	.30

SECTION 6.0		30
SECTION 6.1	APPRENTICES	
6.1.1	RATIOS	31
SECTION 6.2	DUTIES OF APPRENTICE LINEMAN	
6.2.1	***************************************	32
6.2.2	***************************************	32
6.2.3	***************************************	32
6.2.4	***************************************	32
SECTION 6.3		32
SECTION 6.4	APPRENTICE CONTRIBUTIONS	32
ARTICLE 7 ORGA	NIZATION OF THE EMPLOYER	33
SECTION 7.1	ORGANIZATION OF EMPLOYER	
SECTION 7.2	DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY	
SECTION 7.3	PERSONNEL EVALUATIONS REPORTS	33
ARTICLE 8 SAFE1	TY	33
SECTION 8.1	STATE SAFETY CODES	
SECTION 8.2	DANGEROUS OR HAZARDOUS WORK	
8.2.1		
SECTION 8.3	HELICOPTERS	34
SECTION 8.4	SAFETY TRAINING	
SECTION 8.5	FIRST AID CERTIFICATES	
SECTION 8.6	PHYSICAL EXAMINATION	
SECTION 8.7	EMERGENCY AND FIRST AID EQUIPMENT	
SECTION 8.8	HEATED MAN-HAULS	
SECTION 8.9	OVERSIZED ITEMS	
SECTION 8.10	FOR CAUSE DRUG TESTING	
SECTION 8.11	RANDOM DRUG TESTING	
ARTICLE 9 DISCH	PLINE	40
SECTION 9.1	MISUSE OF THE EMPLOYER'S	
SECTION 9.2	COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS	
SECTION 9.3	PERFORMANCE OF WORK	
SECTION 9.4	CONSUMPTION OF DRUGS/ALCOHOL	
SECTION 9.5	DISCHARGE	
SECTION 9.6	PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE	
SECTION 9.7	STATEMENT OF INTENT REGARDING PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE 10 GRIE	VANCE PROCEDURE	41
SECTION 10.1	POLICY ON GRIEVANCES.	
SECTION 10.2	GRIEVANCE	
SECTION 10.3	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	42
SECTION 10.4	ARBITRATION	
ARTICLE 11 WOR	KING RULES – OUTSIDE PLANT	44
SECTION 11.1	DEFINITIONS	
11.1.1	JOURNEYMAN	
11.1.2	FOREMAN	44

11.1.3	MAINTENANCE & OPERATIONS (M/O) FOREMAN	44
11.1.4	LOOP WAGON LEADMAN	
11.1.5	CABLE SPLICER FOREMAN	
11.1.6	CABLE SPLICER	
11.1.7	CABLE SPLICER'S HELPER	45
11.1.8	SWING AND MID-SHIFT LINEMAN	45
11.1.9	LOCATOR LINEMAN	45
11.1.10	EQUIPMENT OPERATOR	45
11.1.11	FIELD/WIRING INSPECTOR	45
11.1.12	SENIOR SHOP MECHANIC	45
11.1.13	SHOP MECHANIC	45
11.1.14	NIGHT SHOP MECHANIC	45
11.1.15	MECHANICS HELPER	46
11.1.17	NIGHT WAREHOUSEMAN	
11.1.18	CONNECTS AND DISCONNECTS LINEMAN	
11.1.19	RELAY/CONTROL WIRING TECHNICIANS, SUBSTATION TECHNICIANS	
	AND LINEMAN	46
11.1.20	LINE PATROL FOREMAN	46
SECTION 11.2	EQUIPMENT	46
11.2.1	COVERALLS AND JACKETS	47
11.2.2	IDENTIFICATION CLOTHING	
11.2.3	METER READER	
11.2.4	MECHANICS TOOL ALLOWANCE	
11.2.5	CLEANING	
11.2.6	CLOTHING ALLOWANCE	
SECTION 11.3	CONSTRUCTION	
11.3.1	POLE HANDLING	
11.3.2	HANDLING AND DISTRIBUTION	
11.3.3	TRENCHING	48
11.3.4	TRANSPORTATION OF ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT	48
11.3.5	ONE MAN CREW	
SECTION 11.4	CALL-OUTS AND SWITCHING	
11.4.1	Switching	
SECTION 11.5	LINE PATROL	
SECTION 11.6	MECHANICAL DIGGING EQUIPMENT	
SECTION 11.7	SHOP WORK	
SECTION 11.8	HIGH POTTING	
SECTION 11.9	INCLEMENT WEATHER	
SECTION 11.10	ACCOMMODATIONS	50
SECTION 11.11	SUBSTATION, METER AND RELAY DEPARTMENT CREW STRUCTURE	51
11.11.1		51
SECTION 11.12	Show-up Shop	51
SECTION 11.13	PICKET LINE	
SECTION 11.14	TREE TRIMMING	
	<b>1.1</b> ■	51
SECTION 11 16	NEW TECHNOLOGY	32

<b>ARTICLE 12</b>	MISCELLANEOUS	52
SECTION 12.1	EMERGENCIES	
<b>SECTION 12.2</b>	COMMUNICATIONS AND NOTICES	52
<b>SECTION 12.3</b>	SAVINGS CLAUSE	52
SECTION 12.4	IDENTIFICATION CARDS	53
ARTICLE 13	HEALTH, WELFARE AND PENSION PLANS	53
SECTION 13.1	HEALTH, WELFARE AND LIFE INSURANCE PLAN	53
13.1.1		
13.1.2		54
<b>SECTION 13.2</b>		54
13.2.1	PENSION REALLOCATION	
<b>SECTION 13.3</b>		
SECTION 13.4	POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE FUND	55
ARTICLE 14	GENERAL PROVISIONS	55
<b>SECTION 14.2</b>		
<b>SECTION 14.3</b>		
ARTICLE 15	LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	56
SECTION 15.1	LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	
<b>SECTION 15.2</b>		
SECTION 15.3		
15.3.1	CLASSIFICATION COMMITTEE PROCEDURE	
SIGNATURE	PAGE	50

# AGREEMENT COVERING TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT OUTSIDE PLANT PERSONNEL BETWEEN

CHUGACH ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, INC. Anchorage, Alaska **AND** 

LOCAL UNION NO. 1547 INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS AFL-CIO Anchorage, Alaska

#### **PREAMBLE**

THIS AGREEMENT, entered into in duplicate by and between CHUGACH ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, INC., an Alaska nonprofit electric cooperative corporation having its principal offices at Anchorage, Alaska, hereinafter referred to as the "Employer", and LOCAL UNION NO. 1547 of the INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF ELECTRICAL WORKERS, AFL-CIO, of Anchorage, Alaska, hereinafter referred to as the "Union".

The Employer and the Union recognize that the Employer is engaged in furnishing an essential public service which vitally affects the health, safety, comfort and general well-being of those persons resident in the service area of the Employer.

The Employer and the Union have a common and sympathetic interest in the generation, transmission and distribution of energy. Such common interest and the public welfare will be better served by the establishment and maintenance of labor management cooperation between the Employer and the Union.

It is the intent and purpose of the parties to promote and improve industrial and economic relations between the Employer, its employees, and the Union; to establish a basic understanding relative to rates of pay, hours of work and other conditions of employment to provide procedures for the amicable adjustment of all disputes and grievances.

The management of the Employer and the leadership of the Union are committed to use due diligence, to develop a positive labor management relationship. The primary goals are to promote the success of the Employer, to provide rewarding jobs for its employees and to provide quality service to meet the needs of its customer. The purpose of this Agreement is to create a labor-management structure and set forth terms and conditions of employment to support a work environment that will further these goals.

#### **ARTICLE 1**

#### SCOPE AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT

#### Section 1.1 Scope

This Agreement is applicable to work within the scope of job classifications covered by this Agreement, and the employees who perform that work, and will not be applicable to other positions or job classifications except as agreed between the Union and Employer.

#### Section 1.2 Duration

This Agreement shall become effective at 12:01 a.m. on either the date of the Interest Arbitration-Award or execution of the Agreement by both parties or as otherwise provided by the parties in writing (whichever comes first), and shall continue in full force and effect through and including 11:59 p.m. June 30, 2003 2010 and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter unless written notice of desire to terminate or amend this Agreement is served by either party upon the other at no more than One-Hundred-TwentyThree Hundred (420 300) days, and no less than ninety-two hundred seventy (90 270) days, prior to the date of expiration. Such written notice will specify the reasons for the termination or the nature of the changes desired. If notice to terminate or amend is given, negotiations shall commence within thirty (30) days following the date of the notice, and this Agreement shall remain in effect until the terms of a new or amended Agreement are agreed upon; provided, however, that either party may at any time thereafter provide the other party with a second notice to terminate this Agreement as of the date stated in such notice to terminate, which date shall not be earlier than ninety (90) days after the expiration date of this Agreement, and thirty (30) days after giving of such notice to terminate.

It is the intent of the parties with respect to collective bargaining of future Agreements to conduct their negotiations in such a manner as to reach a new Agreement on or before the termination of the present Agreement.

#### Section 1.3 No Strike Agreement

There will be no stoppage of work either by strike or lockout because of any proposed changes in this Agreement or disputes over matters relating to this Agreement. All such matters will be settled as provided herein.

#### **ARTICLE 2**

#### **EMPLOYER-UNION RELATIONS**

#### Section 2.1 Legal Status of the Parties

The Union recognizes that the Employer is a utility and the Employer must comply with federal, state, and local laws and regulations applicable to Employer. The Employer recognizes that Local Union No. 1547 is affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers.

# Section 2.2 Union as Sole Bargaining Agent

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining agent for all classifications of employees covered hereby in respect to hours, wages and other conditions of employment.

# Section 2.3 Union Shop

The Employer agrees that all employees covered by this Agreement will, as a condition of employment, within thirty (30) days of the date of this Agreement, or within thirty days after the employee's date of hire, whichever is later, become members of the Union or pay all dues, assessments or fees to the Union as required by the Union. The Employer agrees that only those employees covered hereby who remain in good standing in the Union should continue in its employ. As used in this article, "good standing" means that an employee is not in arrears to the Union for current dues, assessments or fees, including initiation fees.

# Section 2.4 Management Prerogatives of the Employer

The Management of Employer's operations and direction of the work force is vested exclusively in the Employer. Providing that the action taken by Employer is not inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement and is not taken for the purpose of discriminating against an employee based on Union membership, the Employer retains management rights and responsibilities, including, but not limited to: (1) to prescribe working rules pertaining to safety, discipline, and conduct; (2) to supervise and schedule the work force; (3) to employ, promote, transfer, and lay-off employees; (4) to discipline employees for just cause; (5) to determine the size of the work force; (6) to control and regulate the use of facilities, supplies, equipment, and other property of the Employer; and (7) to introduce new or improved methods of operation or facilities.

#### Section 2.5 Standards of Work

The Union agrees for its members who are covered by this Agreement that they will individually and collectively perform safe, efficient and diligent service, and that they will use their influence and best efforts to protect the property of the Employer.

#### Section 2.6 Shop Stewards

Shop stewards who have been selected pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Union to represent the employees covered hereby will be recognized by the Employer. The number of stewards appointed shall be reasonably related to the needs of the Union to represent bargaining unit members. The names of the stewards will be furnished to the General Manager of the Employer in writing before beginning their duties. An alternate shall act as the steward when appointed to do so by the Union and the Employer is so notified. The Employer recognizes that the stewards will be assigned their Union duties and responsibilities by the Union and pursuant to this Agreement. The stewards will cooperate with the Employer in securing compliance with this Agreement and, at the request of the General Manager of the Employer, or of the General Manager's duly authorized representative, will call to the attention of its employees any violations of this Agreement.

Stewards shall perform their assigned duties as an employee covered by this Agreement. Stewards will be given a reasonable amount of time by the steward's supervisor during working hours, and without loss of pay, to handle Union business pertaining to the steward's area of responsibility which could not reasonably be accomplished during non-working hours. This business will be handled as expeditiously as possible and, except for matters taking only a few minutes, the appropriate management supervisor will be informed before a steward performs Union business. A steward may, with permission from the management supervisor, use a company vehicle to pursue labor management problems during working hours. During outages and other emergencies, a supervisor has the right to require a steward to give priority attention to Employer's business. The steward will confine the steward's activities during working hours to those matters pertaining to this Agreement.

Stewards will not be terminated for any cause until the General Manager of the Employer and the Business Manager of the Union have completed an investigation of such cause, provided that the investigation shall not last longer than fifteen (15) work days in cases not involving a reduction in force, and 48 hours in cases involving a reduction in force, without mutual agreement of the parties. In the event of a reduction in force involving a steward, the General Manager for the Employer and the Business Manager of the Union will meet at least 48 hours prior to the reduction in force to allow adequate time for the Business Manager to replace the steward; this section, in and of itself, does not obligate Employer to otherwise give the Union advance notice of a reduction in force. As used in this section, "shop steward" or "steward" includes alternate shop stewards, and "working hours" does not include meal and break periods.

#### Section 2.6A Letter of Intent

The Employer may require the shop steward to record time spent on union business during working hours on the steward's time card.

#### Section 2.7 Leave to Accept Union Office

Any employee elected or appointed to an office of the Union which requires a part or all of the employee's time will, upon application, be given annual leave, insofar as such employee may have accrued annual leave, or leave without pay. An employee who is on leave in order to discharge Union duties will continue to accrue service credit for a period not to exceed four (4) years. This Union leave may be extended by mutual agreement. This provision does not apply if an employee seeks leave solely to act as a candidate for Union office.

# Section 2.8 Good Standing with the Union

The Union may notify the Employer in writing that an employee covered by this agreement is not in good standing with the Union, in that such employee is in arrears for current dues, assessments or fees, including initiation fees. The Employer will inform the employee of such notification and, unless the employee acquires good standing with the Union within a period of five (5) full workdays after being so informed by the Employer, the employee will be terminated. The Employer agrees to deduct Union

dues, assessments and fees from the pay of its employees and pay to the Local Union No. 1547 such amount as is authorized in writing by the employee on a form acceptable to the Employer. The Employer agrees to make this deduction from each payroll check, and to send a check for the total amount to the Financial Secretary as designated by the Union on or before the fifteenth (15th) day of the following month, together with a list of every bargaining unit employee that shows for each employee (1) the employee's social security number, (2) the employee's last name, first name, and middle initial. (3) the amount of working dues, assessments or fees deducted, (4) the amount of monthly dues or fees deducted. (5) the employee's base working rate. (6) the number of hours compensated at straight time, and at the applicable overtime rate. (7) the total hours compensated, and (8) the employee's gross wages. This authority shall be revocable by the employee by notice in writing delivered by mail to the General Manager of the Employer and the Financial Secretary of the Union once per year. The Union agrees that the Employer assumes no responsibility in connection with deduction of dues, assessments or fees except that of ordinary diligence and care in forwarding monies deducted as set forth in this Article. The Union shall indemnify the Employer and save the Employer harmless from any and all claims against the Employer based on this section or Section 2.3. Employer retains the right, at its option, to select and use its own counsel in any proceedings arising from this section where Employer determines there is a conflict between the interests of the Union and the Employer as follows: Employer shall provide the Union with a list of at least two (2) law firms that are acceptable to the Employer, and then the Union, in its sole discretion, shall select one of these law firms to act on Employer's behalf. If the Union provides indemnification under this section, the Union will pay a reasonable hourly rate for attorney services, and those costs and services that are reasonable and necessary for such defense.

#### Section 2.9 Union Bulletin Board

Employer will provide bulletin boards for use by the Union, at locations acceptable to the Union, for the purpose of posting Union notices and communications. Union bulletin boards will be provided with locks and keys, with keys kept by the stewards.

#### Section 2.10 Union Access to Employer's Premises

Authorized representatives of the Union, while acting on Union business, will be permitted to visit the offices and other places of work of the Employer during working hours. The Union representative will schedule visits to a department, work site, or facility with the Manager of Employee Relations, or the Manager's designee. Before visiting an area where employees are working, the Union representative will, whenever possible, inform the supervisor responsible for the department which is to be visited. Members of the Union will be permitted to participate in Union meetings during their hours of work only as authorized by the General Manager or the General Manager's designated representative.

#### Section 2.11 Loan of Employees

The Employer will not lend the services of an employee covered hereunder, or cause such services to be lent, except that to meet an emergency situation the Employer may lend employees' services to any other electrical utility.

An employee shall be considered loaned when one or more of the following criteria is met:

- (a) The employees supervision for services in question is transferred to another electric utility.
- (b) The work is performed on the premises and for the sole benefit of another electric utility.

The Union recognizes that Employer lease-operates facilities owned by other electrical utilities and that the performance of services with regard to those facilities by the Employer's personnel does not entail the loan of employees as contemplated herein.

In the event that the loan of employees becomes justified under the conditions heretofore described, the Employer will notify the Business Manager or other authorized representative of the Union as soon thereafter as practicable and in any event no later than the beginning of the next regular workday. The employees will be covered under the terms of this Agreement while on loan.

# Section 2.12 Hiring Hall

All employees to perform services covered by this Agreement shall be secured through the offices of the Union, subject, however to the following:

#### 2.12.1

The Employer shall notify the Union of possible vacancies, which the Employer intends to fill from the applicants for employment.

#### 2.12.2

The Union shall refer applicants for jobs, provided that the selection of applicants for referral shall be on a nondiscriminatory basis and shall not be based upon, or in any way affected by Union membership, bylaws, rules, regulations, constitutional provisions or any other aspect or observance of Union membership, policies or requirements.

#### 2.12.3

The Employer shall have the right to reject any job applicant referred by the Union. If the Employer rejects an applicant, the Employer shall immediately notify the Union in writing by noting same on the introductory form presented by the applicant.

#### 2.12.4

If the Union does not refer qualified job applicants within two (2) working days after receipt of notice, who shall be acceptable to the Employer for filling the existing vacancies, the Employer shall be free to recruit employees from other sources.

# 2.12.5 Non-Discrimination

The parties hereto recognize that the Employer is an equal opportunity employer within the contemplation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as such statute has been implemented by one or more executive orders, and that Employer, may be likewise a federal contractor within the contemplation of the aforesaid executive orders and required to pursue an affirmative action program with respect to equal opportunity for employment (ref: Executive Order 11246, as amended, section 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, and the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974, as amended , 38 U.S.C. 4212, and their implementing regulations at 41 CFR Chapter 60, and the implementing regulations-listed at 41-CFR Part-60). In order to insure that Employer conforms in its hiring practices to the requirements of the law, federal, state and local, as implemented by executive and administrative orders and regulations, the parties mutually agree that neither Employer nor Union will discriminate against any person or persons on the grounds of race, religion, color, sex, age or national origin with respect to recruitment, hire, promotion, demotion, termination, lay-off, transfer, compensation, selection for training, or otherwise, so as to deny such person or persons equal employment opportunities. The parties-also-mutually-agree-that-the-Employer-is-an-affirmative action-employer-with respect to individuals with disabilities, disabled-veterans, and veterans of the Vietnam

#### 2.12.6

The term "he" wherever used in this Agreement, shall also mean "she".

# Section 2.13 Contracting Out - Purpose

It is understood and agreed that the function of Sections 2.13.1-4 are not in any way intended to limit or restrict the ability of the Employer to do business with other employers, but rather, these provisions are designed and intended to preserve work fro employees whose wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment are prescribed by this Agreement.

#### Section 2.13.1 Erosion of Work Force

No regular employee shall be laid-off, terminated or discharged by the Employer as a result of the Employer's subcontracting any work historically or normally performed by bargaining unit employees. The Employer agrees that it will not contract out or subcontract work for the underlying purpose of eroding the size of the bargaining unit.

#### Section 2.13.2 Warranty Work

The Employer may without penalty contract out work involving the installation, troubleshooting and/or repair of equipment and apparatus if required by the terms of a manufacturer's or supplier's warranty. If skills new to the bargaining unit are used, the Employer will continue its existing practice of assigning at least one bargaining unit employee to assist with such warranty work as training that will facilitate work the bargaining unit employees will, with reasonable probability, do later.

# Section 2.13.3 Union Signatory Clause

- (a) In order to preserve work traditionally performed by bargaining unit members, the Employer shall require that contractors for new construction involving any electrical work normally performed by employees covered by the Outside Agreement which is to be done at the site of construction of transmission lines, distribution lines. substations, SCADA systems, and inside wiring, become signatory to a current collective bargaining agreement with International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 1547 if they are the successful bidder on a project. This requirement shall become applicable once a bid is awarded. Contractors or subcontractors need not be signatory to such agreement in order to bid on the project. Bidding is open to any contractor. In order to comply with this section, contractors not already signatory to a collective bargaining agreement with IBEW may either become signatory or they may execute an agreement with the IBEW to comply with the same terms and conditions set forth in the most current applicable agreement between IBEW Local 1547 and the Alaska Chapter National Electrical Contractors Association, Inc., which agreement is limited to the scope of the work and duration of the project. The IBEW and any successful bidder shall promptly enter into an agreement as necessary to comply with this section.
- (b) This signatory provision will be interpreted and applied in good faith by both parties. The Employer shall not design a project, draw up job specifications or engage in any practices for the purpose of intentionally taking itself outside the scope of the lawful application of the construction industry proviso in 29 USC 158(3).

(c)

- (1) Work intended to maintain and operate existing facilities, or equipment at their original location, capacity and intended use (including maintenance clearing and trimming) is maintenance and operations, not new construction, and is covered by all the above-referenced provisions except the signatory clause set forth at Section 2.13.3(a). All subcontracting of maintenance and operation work normally performed by employees covered by this Agreement shall be compensated at the current prevailing rate of wages and fringe benefits as determined from time to time by the Alaska Department of Labor pursuant to Title 36.
- (2) Right-of-way clearing is exempt from the union signatory clause either when it does not constitute construction activity or when it has not normally and traditionally been performed by the bargaining unit.
- (3) Contracts for construction work, including the nonelectrical alteration, painting, or repair of buildings, will not be covered by the Union signatory clause when such work is not normally performed by members of the bargaining unit.
- (d) It is mutually agreed that "inside wiring" shall be defined as work necessary to the installation and construction of electrical facilities within Association buildings and structures or associated electrical work on the load side of the

Association's meter subject to the National Electrical Code. It is understood that this definition will not conflict with or limit work performed by classifications covered under the Outside or Generation Agreements.

# Section 2.13.4 Methods of Dispute Resolution

The parties shall not enforce Sections 2.13.1-3 of this Agreement by means of slowdown, picketing, strikes or lockouts. In order to avoid unnecessary disputes over application of this Article, the Union shall be given reasonable advance written notice of any preliminary decision to contract or subcontract work covered by Sections 2.13.1-3. Before the Employer may award any contract for subcontract (including task order contracts and unit price contracts) or assign any work covered by Sections 2.13.1-3 (engage in subcontracting activities), the Union shall be given an opportunity within the next five business days following the date of notice to meet with the Employer for the purpose of discussing whether the proposed action is in compliance with this Article. If mutual agreement cannot be reached within that time frame, the matter shall proceed to Step 3 of the grievance procedure if the Union so elects and the Employer will not refuse to arbitrate subcontracting grievances on the basis that they are illegal. If either party should refuse to arbitrate a contracting dispute, that party will be liable for the other sides' attorney's fees and costs incurred in obtaining an order compelling arbitration. The discussion provisions of this section shall not apply to emergency work, task orders issued under task order contracts, individual jobs issued under a unit price contract, contracts or subcontract in an amount of \$50,000 or less, professional services, or in cases where work is bid under the OELCC and there are no pre-qualified non-union contractors. In addition, the notice requirement shall not apply to emergency work. The exemption of the foregoing categories of work from the notice and discussion provision of this section in no manner limits or impairs any rights the IBEW has to file and process grievances as to such work.

#### Section 2.14 Employee Access to Personnel Record

Employees shall have access to their personnel records in the Employee Relations Department at any reasonable time in the presence of the Manager of Employee Relations or designated representative of the Employee Relations Department. The employee will receive a copy of any disciplinary letters or of any material placed in this file which may lead to disciplinary action. The employee's personnel file in the Employee Relations Department will be secured (locked) and will be accessible only to designated employees in the Employee Relations Department, the employee's immediate supervisor and supervisory/managerial personnel in the direct chain of command. All other persons are barred from employee personnel files without the employee's written consent, except as provided by law.

# Section 2.15 Seminars, Workshops and other Meetings

The Employer recognizes the value of sending representatives to workshops or seminars which are for fostering better labor relations between the parties. In the interest of promoting better labor management relations, when the Employer determines it is beneficial to have representation from the bargaining unit attend such seminars or workshops, the Employer will pay for the associated expenses.

#### **ARTICLE 3**

# **APPOINTMENT AND TENURE**

# Section 3.1

All employees hereunder are designated as either NECA-Temporary, Probationary, Regular, or Temporary. The term NECA refers to the Inside-Outside IBEW Alaska Electrical Construction Agreement, as amended.

# Section 3.1.1 NECA-Temporary Employees

Journeyman linemen and Wiremen and other classifications as set forth in the IBEW-NECA Agreement may be employed as NECA-Temps for a period not to exceed six (6) months of continuous employment. Such employees shall be subject to this Agreement as to hours of work and applicable working rules only. In addition, NECA-Temporary employees shall receive the wage rates as set forth in the IBEW Inside-Outside Alaska Electrical Construction Agreement, as amended. The Employer shall pay for the NECA-Temp employee's account, the health and welfare benefits, retirement benefits and group legal benefits as specified in said IBEW-NECA Agreement. NECA-Temporary employees shall not accrue seniority, service credits, holiday pay, annual leave, jury duty, worker's compensation supplement or longevity. NECA-Temporary employees shall be compensated at three two (3\_2) times the appropriate straight time rate for time worked on holidays as defined in Section 4.5.

When it becomes necessary for a NECA-Temporary Journeyman lineman to assume the position of leadman, they shall receive 104% of the applicable wage rate. When a NECA-Temporary Journeyman lineman is assigned to the swing shift loop wagon, they shall receive 115% of the applicable wage rate for all hours worked while assigned to the swing shift loop wagon. When a NECA-Temporary Journeyman is assigned to the mid-shift loop wagon they shall receive 125% of the applicable wage rate for all hours worked while assigned to the mid-shift loop wagon. Assignment of a NECA-Temporary employee to a regular position shall not cause the employee to be treated as either a probationary or regular employee unless employer affirmatively indicates in writing that it is Employer's intent and desire to change the employee's status from that of a NECA-Temporary to either a probationary or regular employee.

# Section 3.1.2 Probationary Employees

A probationary employee is one who has been hired by the Employer for regular employment, but who has less than ninety (90) days continuous service with the Employer. All employees hired to fill a regular job will be regarded as probationary employees for the first ninety (90) days. During this period of probationary employment, employees the newly hired employee may be laid off or discharged by the Employer, and such actions shall not be subject, however, to the provisions of Article 10 herein. All employees hired to fill a regular job shall accrue service credits and seniority during such probationary period. This time may be extended by mutual agreement between Management and Union.

Probationary period for newly hired Relay/ Control Wiring Technicians, Substation Technicians, Substation Lineman and Substation Lineman trainee is six (6) months and during this period of probationary employment, these employees may be laid off or discharged by the Employer and such actions shall not be subject to the provisions of Article 10- herein.

The rights of regular employees who bid to a different position and who do not successfully complete the probationary period in the bid position shall be as specified elsewhere in this Agreement.

# Section 3.1.3 Regular Employees

A regular employee is one who has been designated by the Employer in writing as being a regular employee and who has served the Employer continuously for ninety (90) days subject to any exceptions related to the probationary period as provided for in this agreement.

Section 3.1.4 Transfer of Temporary Employees to Probationary or Regular Status Any employee hired as a NECA-Temporary or Temporary may be awarded or transferred to Probationary or Regular status by the Employer. Any such change in status will be in writing. If the employee, on the date of accepting the award or transfer, has not been employed for ninety (90) days, the employee will be transferred to probationary status and the time accrued from the employee's temporary hire date will be considered part of the probationary time period.

# Section 3.1.5 Temporary Employees

A temporary employee is an individual employed in a non-journeyman position to meet occasional workload or an employee's absence from a position for cross training, disability or leave. This individual may be employed for a period not to exceed nine months. This nine month limit may be extended by mutual consent of the Union and the Employer.

The intent of this section is not to reduce the number of regular positions by the hiring of temporary employees.

Temporary employees will be subject to this Agreement only as to hours of work, rates of pay, holiday pay, annual leave, health and welfare benefits, pension, and applicable working rules.

Such employees dispatched on a short call (14 calendar days or less) shall not be eligible for floating holidays or birthday holidays.

# Section 3.2 Service Credit and Seniority

#### 3.2.1 Service Credit

For the purpose of this Agreement service credit is the actual amount of time for which a probationary or regular employee receives compensation for full-time employment with the Employer, to which is added the actual time the employee is on authorized leave without pay, except as provided in Section 2.7 herein.

# 3.2.2 Seniority

**Except as provided in Section 3.3.1,** seniority-is-the-length-of service since a-regular employee was last employed by the Employer. When more than one-employee is employed on the same day, the employee with the lowest dispatch number will-have the greatest seniority. Seniority is the total service credit which the employee has with the Employer since the employee's last uninterrupted date of hire within Chugach's bargaining units. When more than one employee is employed on the same day, the employee with the lowest dispatch number will have the greatest seniority.

A list reflecting the relative seniority status of each employee covered hereunder will be available to the shop steward. The Employer will keep such seniority list current.

# Section 3.3 Termination of Seniority

The seniority of an employee will terminate under any of the following conditions:

#### 3.3.1

When a regular employee is laid off, except that if that employee is re-employed as a regular employee and his service break is twelve (12) months or less, seniority will accrue uninterrupted to original date of hire.

#### 3.3.2

When the employee resigns.

#### 3.3.3

When the employee is discharged for just cause.

#### Section 3.4 Vacancies

The following procedure will govern job posting, bidding, selection and award, for all job classifications covered by this Agreement.

# 3.4.1 Job Posting

Any job or position covered by this Agreement which has been vacated and is to be filled, or any job that is being created, shall be posted. Posting shall state details and qualifications applicable to the job or positions. The Employer will re-post Vacancy Positions in-house every twelve (12) months when a vacancy to be filled has not been filled by way of the posting/bidding process (in that order). This timeframe may be extended by mutual agreement between the parties. Re-posting will only be required if a qualified applicant from outside the Company is not hired to fill the position.

# 3.4.2 Job Bidding

For the purpose of providing every regular employee covered by this Agreement with an opportunity to bid on posted vacancies, the Employer will make a reasonable effort to notify all such employees, including those on annual leave, of posted vacancies provided that the employee on annual leave has left an address or phone number where the employee can be contacted and further provided that the employee has previously notified the Manager of Employee Relations, the employee's supervisor or the Shop Steward in writing that the employee desires to be notified of any posted vacancies. Any regular employee covered by this Agreement, may, within five (5) working days from the date of job posting, present in writing (or verbally if out of town) to the Employer Relations department, the employee's immediate supervisor or the shop steward, the employee's request to bid. Such request will include all data required by the posting.

Except as provided in 3.4.3, temporary positions or reassignments are not biddable but may be posted so that employees may indicate their interest for consideration. Regular employees may be assigned to temporary jobs for cross-training provided the employee signifies an interest in that particular assignment. Periods of such reassignment may be up to sixty (60) calendar days. The 60-day limit may be exceeded by mutual consent of the Union and the Employer. Temporary promotions shall be on a twenty-four (24) hour basis.

Unless mutually agreed, employees are limited to one successful bid during any twelve (12) month period. This restriction will not prevent an employee from bidding a promotional opportunity except that employees awarded a Kenai Peninsula operations position will work in this position a minimum of twelve (12) months and will not bid on any other position during this time. The bidding restrictions in this section do not affect bidding opportunities to bid as set forth in 3.4.3.

#### 3.4.3

Certain temporary positions which are highly desirable because of the potential they provide for overtime or increased wage rates may be subject to the bid procedure. Any regular employee who successfully bids on such temporary job will, upon completion of said job, return to work as assigned by the Employer and not to a biddable position which he may have held prior to his successful bid for the above-mentioned temporary position.

#### 3.4.4 Job Award

Within five (5) calendar days after the closing date of the bids, the bid will be considered and the job awarded. Bid pay to start at the time of the bid award providing the employee is available to assume the position on that date and shall continue until bid position is canceled. (Positions covered by 3.4.3 are not included).

All bids will first be reviewed for validity of qualifications by a Bid Committee, composed of two (2) representatives from the bargaining unit selected by the Shop Steward and

two (2) from the Employer selected by the Employer. All qualified bids will then be considered by the Bid Committee without discrimination of any kind to determine who is most qualified to perform the work.

The Bid Committee must consider the following factors equally: ability to meet the posted qualifications, merit, fitness and 3 years past performance. The Bid Committee may require written, oral and demonstrative evaluation of qualifications. These evaluations will be mutually agreed by the Bid Committee and will be based upon the appropriate position description. In addition, the Bid Committee may request interviews with bidder(s) and/or managers. Where bidders are equal in qualifications, seniority shall prevail.

Within three (3) working days the Executive Manager or designee will, in the absence of overriding circumstances, accept the recommendations of the Bid Committee. If the Executive Manager or designee does not accept the recommendation of the Bid Committee, he or she shall inform the Bid Committee of the reasons in writing. In the event of a tie Bid Committee the Bid Committee will reconvene with the Executive Manager or his designee as a voting member of the committee. Neither the Executive Manager nor his designee will have been a member of the original Bid Committee. The Bid Committee will reconvene, re-evaluate the bidders and render a decision. Should an employee believe that they are passed over without justification the employee may file a grievance and follow the procedures in Article 10.

Regular employees awarded a bid to a higher classification (except jobs under 3.4.3) will undergo up to a sixty (60) day probationary period. Any employee who successfully bids and fails the probationary period shall return to a position assigned by the Employer within the classifications listed in Article 3 Section 3.5.2 in which the employee occupied prior to the failed bid.

A bid form will be available so that when a person bids a job, the employee may clearly indicate the employee's qualifications in terms of the qualifications required.

#### 3.4.5 Assigned Positions

Classifications covered by this Agreement, which are assigned positions, shall be posted on the Operations bulletin board so that employee may indicate their interest for consideration as openings occur.

#### Section 3.5 Reduction-in-Force

#### 3.5.1

When a reduction-in-force for regular employees is necessary, company seniority by job classification as described below shall prevail regarding such layoffs. Classifications are as follows:

(a) Any position requiring journeyman lineman as a prerequisite;

- (b) Control Wiring/Relay Technicians;
- (c) Warehouse Department;
- (d) Mechanics;
- (e) Meter Readers;
- (f) Construction and Maintenance;
- (g) Utility Aborist;

When a reduction-in-force for NECA-Temporary employees is necessaryoccurs, layoffs will be in reverse book order (IV.—III.—unindentured—and—non-Alaskan—indentured apprentices, II-and-I)-and reverse layoff within book by-according to hire date. For-the purposes of reduction-in-force, Alaskan indentured a <u>Apprentices will be characterized as NECA-Temporary employees for all purposes except lay-off. As long as the number of apprentices is within the ratios listed in Section 6.1, the Employer may lay-off NECA-Temporary employees before apprentices, considered Book—I—NECA—temporary employees—and-will-be-laid off-sequentially-by-hire-date with-all-other-Book—I-NECA temporary employees—For-purposes of this section-reverse layoff by-hire-date means last hired first laid off</u>

In the event new classifications are created, the Union and the Employer will develop a letter of understanding to cover reduction-in-force.

#### **ARTICLE 4**

#### **ANNUAL LEAVE AND HOLIDAYS**

# Section 4.1 Annual Leave

A regular employee will earn annual leave at the rate of:

1 <sup>st</sup> year	160 hours per year
2 <sup>nd</sup> year	176 hours per year
3 <sup>rd</sup> year	192 hours per year
4 <sup>th</sup> year	208 hours per year
5 <sup>th</sup> year	240 hours per year

per annum of active and continuous service. An employee on annual leave will be considered in active service; an employee on approved leave without pay will not be considered in active service. Except for written approval of an employee's Executive Manager, or other person designated in writing by the Employer, no employee shall be allowed to take more than four hundred eight (480) hours of annual leave at one time. Accrued annual leave will be shown on each paycheck.

# Section 4.2 Scheduling of Leave Annual leave will be scheduled in advance as follows:

#### 4.2.1

Annual leave which has been requested on or before March 1 for the following twelve (12) months, or as agreed between the parties hereto, will be approved or disapproved, dependent upon the manpower requirements of the Employer. All annual leave will be approved pursuant to consideration of seniority. Approved annual leave shall be granted at the time scheduled. Written approval or disapproval of said leave shall be made within ten (10) days after March 1. Requests which have been disapproved will be granted as soon thereafter as practicable or as agreed by the Union and Employer. Both the Union and the Employer agree that both parties shall take all reasonable action to accommodate for the employee's absence.

#### 422

When an employee requests extended leave to travel outside of Alaska and so notifies the Employer prior to March 1 and has been scheduled pursuant to consideration of seniority, the employee may take up to sixty (60) days of accrued annual leave and it shall be granted at the time scheduled.

#### 4.2.2.1

If the Employer makes a documented accommodation for an employee's absence, the employee may not, without the Employer's permission, cancel the employee's annual leave within ten (10) days of the scheduled date of the approved annual leave unless the cancellation is due to documented circumstances beyond the employee's control.

#### 4.2.3 Emergency Leave

In emergencies such as serious illness or other grave personal problems which, in the opinion of Employer merit such consideration, annual leave will be granted immediately, provided that the employee states the reason for requesting such leave. If accrued annual leave is exhausted, the Employer may grant leave without pay under Section 4.3. The Union will cooperate with the Employer to insure to the maximum extent possible that consideration given to emergency requests for annual leave are not abused. Employees will make every reasonable effort to notify the Employer in a timely manner of the need to be absent because of an emergency.

#### 4.2.3.1 Bereavement Leave

In the event of a death in the immediate family, an employee shall be granted three (3) working days paid leave of absence for purposes of attending the funeral, attending the burial, or dealing with the immediate grief caused by the death. Such leave will not be used as a reduction of the employee's accrued annual leave and may not be banked for future use. Employees will make every effort to notify the Employer in a timely manner of the need to be absent because of bereavement leave and, upon returning from such leave, will confirm the reason leave was taken on a form provided by the Employer. The term immediately family is defined as the following and applies both to the family of the employee and the employee's spouse: child (including foster child and step-child),

spouse, sister, brother, parents (including foster parents and step-parents), and grandparents.

#### 4.2.4

Annual leave for a period of over seven (7) days, if requested after March 1, will be requested at least ten (10) days prior to the commencement thereof. Written approval or disapproval of said leave shall be made within five (5) days after request has been received. Annual leave for a period of seven (7) days or less will be requested at least three (3) days prior to commencement thereof. Written approval of said leave shall be made within two (2) days after request has been received. Such annual leave will be granted if, in the opinion of the Employer, its operation will permit. Otherwise, such requests will be granted as soon thereafter as practicable. Annual leave will be granted in units of less than four (4) hours if approved by the Employer.

# Section 4.3 Leave Without Pay

# 4.3.1 Use of Leave Without Pay

- (a) Approved Leave Without Pay Leave without pay, not to exceed sixty (60) days in any one (1) year, may be granted at the discretion of the Employer upon application but leave without pay will not be granted to any employee until the employee has used all accrued annual leave, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. The employee will continue to earn service credit with the Employer during the time the employee is on approved leave without pay status. This section will not apply to leave without pay for employees entering Union service, nor to leave without pay for medical reasons, which are covered elsewhere in this Agreement.
- (b) To prevent abuse of leave without pay, whenever an employee who has exhausted all annual leave in the calendar year has used unapproved leave without pay for routine, incidental absences in excess of forty (40) cumulative hours in that year, the employee will be responsible for paying the pro rata share of monthly health care premiums paid by the Employer on any subsequent unapproved leave without pay in that calendar year. The employee's pro rata share will be paid by payroll deduction.

#### 4.3.2 Notification

If an employee seeks leave without pay under this section for a period of over five (5) working days, and requests the leave at least ten (10) working days in advance, the Employer shall give written approval or disapproval of the leave request within five (5) working days after the request is received. If the Employer turns down a request for leave without pay, the Employer will advise the employee whether, in the opinion of the Employer, the employee may take the leave at a later time.

#### Section 4.4 Sick or Disability Leave

#### 4.4.1 Sick or Disability Leave

When illness or need of medical attention requires that a regular employee be absent from regularly scheduled work three (3) or more consecutive days, commencing after

the third day, leave without pay shall be granted by the Employer at the request of the employee. Otherwise, his absence will be charged to annual leave to the extent that such employee has accrued annual leave with the Employer. Such leave will not exceed one (1) year if the employee had less than five (5) years of service credit at the start of such leave, nor exceed two (2) years if the employee had five (5) years or more service credit at the start of such leave. The one and two years caps on leave without pay noted above shall be calculated on a cumulative basis using a rolling five (5) year period.

#### 4.4.2 Medical Verification

If an employee takes annual leave or leave without pay because of claimed illness or need of medical attention, the Employer may require the employee to provide the Employer with a statement from a medical doctor certifying that the employee's absence was necessary for medical reasons in cases of suspected abuse of leave. Additional statements by a medical doctor may be required by the Employer in the case of extended illness or disability. The employee shall receive one (1) hour compensation at the straight time rate (not counted as hours worked). The employee shall be reimbursed for physicians' charges not covered by the employee's insurance upon submission of all relevant documentation

# 4.4.3 Substance Abuse Treatment Opportunity

Employees suffering from alcoholism or drug abuse will receive the same consideration that is extended to employees having any other illness.

# 4.4.4 Employee Responsibility – Treatment

It shall be the employee's duty to seek treatment for alcoholism or drug abuse. In no case shall job security or promotional opportunity be jeopardized by seeking treatment for such an ailment or condition. However, if two (2) alcohol or drug abuse related occurrences occur within a twelve (12) month consecutive period, a third occurrence may be just cause for termination. The employee is responsible for maintaining a satisfactory level of job performance. Failure to do so may result in appropriate corrective or disciplinary action as determined by the Employer.

Intent Statement: The parties understand that the "safe harbor" created by the above section is designed to encourage employees to seek treatment for alcohol and substance abuse, and to protect them against discipline and job loss while they are in treatment if they should stumble once or twice. It is not intended to give employees who have not admitted they have a problem, or sought treatment, the right to abuse alcohol or other substances before they can be disciplined.

#### 4.4.5 Worker's Compensation

If a regular employee is absent from work because of an injury which is compensable under the worker's compensation laws, or any other applicable law, the employee will continue to earn service credit until such credit is terminated by mutual agreement of the parties, or at such time as the compensation claim has been fully settled, whichever is earlier. Employee shall furnish Employer with a statement from a medical doctor

certifying that the employee's absence was necessary for medical reasons and a statement certifying that the employee is able to return to work. When an employee is on worker's compensation, the employee shall continue to accrue annual leave.

4.4.6. Pension Contributions on Worker's Compensation pay
Pension Contributions shall be made on a regular employee's behalf up to a maximum of forty (40) hours of compensation per week for each week the employee receives supplemental payments in addition to workers compensation pursuant to Section 4.8, with contributions capped at a maximum of twenty-six weeks.

# Section 4.5. Holidays

The days listed below will be recognized as paid holidays:

New Year's Day (January 1)

Memorial Day (Last Monday in May)

Independence Day (July 4)

Labor Day (First Monday in

September)

Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in

November)

Friday After Thanksgiving

Christmas Eve (December 24)
Christmas Day (December 25)
New Year's Eve (December 31)

Two Three Floating Holidays

Employee's Birthday

#### 4.5.1

The foregoing holidays will be observed on the dates mentioned above, unless other days for their observance are established by statutes or presidential or gubernatorial proclamation. In the event of a conflict between a federal law or federal proclamation and a state law or gubernatorial proclamation with respect to any such observance, the state law or gubernatorial proclamation will control.

#### 4.5.2

In consideration of this Agreement, when a recognized holiday falls on a Sunday, it will be observed on the following Monday, when a recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, it will be observed on the preceding Friday. If Christmas or New Year's falls on a Saturday, it will be observed on Friday, and Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve will be observed on Thursday. When Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve falls on a Sunday, it will be observed on the preceding Friday.

In consideration of the Tuesday through Saturday shift the following will apply:

When a recognized holiday falls on a Monday, it will be observed on the following Tuesday; when a recognized holiday falls on a Sunday, it will be observed on the

preceding Saturday. If Christmas or New Year's falls on Sunday, it will be observed on Saturday, and Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve will be observed on Friday. When Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve falls on a Monday, it will be observed on the preceding Saturday.

In consideration of the Sunday though Thursday shift, the following will apply:

When a recognized holiday falls on a Saturday, it will be observed on the following Sunday; when a recognized holiday falls on a Friday, it will be observed on the preceding Thursday, if Christmas or New Year's falls on Friday, it will be observed on Thursday, and Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve will be observed on Wednesday. When Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve falls on a Saturday, it will be observed on the preceding Thursday.

#### 4.5.3

The floating holidays shall be observed on a day mutually agreeable to the employee and Employer. Employees who want to use their floating holiday on Martin Luther King Day (third Monday in January) will be allowed to do so provided Employer can maintain essential operations.

#### 4.5.4

Employee's birthday shall-be observed on a workday of employee's choosing-during the month in which the birthday occurs unless mutually agreed otherwise.

# Section 4.6 Jury Duty

An employee shall promptly inform the employee's supervisor when the employee receives a summons for jury duty. If an employee is absent from work on a regularly scheduled workday in compliance with a summons for jury duty, or is subpoenaed to appear because the employee's presence was directly related to the discharge of duties with Employer, such employee will be administratively excused with pay for the period that the employee's absence for such duty is necessary. The employee will be paid the applicable straight time, day rate, less the difference between any jury fee received by the employee and any parking fee paid by the employee. No shift premium or overtime will be paid for jury duty. No charge against annual leave will be made for absence from work in compliance with a jury summons or subpoena referred to above.

Shift workers shall be assigned to day shift Monday through Friday when serving. For each day while on jury duty, the employee shall obtain from the clerk of court a note indicating when the employee is released from jury duty; if two (2) or more hours remain in the work day, excluding a lunch break if the employee did not receive such a break during jury duty, the employee shall return to work as soon as is reasonably feasible.

#### Section 4.7 Voting Time

An employee desiring to vote in a federal, state, or municipal election may do so, provided the employee is eligible to vote in that particular election for which the employee requests the time off and that the employee can reasonably be spared from

the employee's duties. The Employer may schedule voting time throughout the day; provided, however, that employees scheduled to vote just prior to the end of their scheduled workday will be given one (1) full hour. Absence from work for voting time shall be charged against annual leave.

#### Section 4.8 Payment in Addition to Worker's Compensation

The Employer will pay weekly to any employee disabled in Employer's employment a sum equal to the difference between the total amount of compensation to which the employee is entitled under the Alaska Worker's Compensation Act and/or under any other disability insurance program in which Employer may participate, and seventy-five (75%) of the total wages to which the employee would have been entitled, computed at the straight time rate for the employee's regularly scheduled hours of employment, had the employee been on active employment; provided, all such payments in lieu of wages shall be limited to the period for which the employee is entitled to disability compensation, but not to exceed a total of twenty-six (26) weeks; and provided, further, Employer may require the employee to furnish satisfactory evidence of the sums received as disability compensation and medical evidence justifying the employee's continued receipt of such disability compensation.

# 4.8.1 Certification Upon Return to Work

Each employee, upon returning to work, will provide the Employer with a physician's statement authorizing such return and stating work limitations required, if any. After returning to work, if the employee is observed to have problems performing the employee's job, the employee may be requested to return to the employee's treating physician for a written evaluation of work that may be safely performed, and time required for this evaluation shall be considered as hours worked. Employer agrees to provide the treating physician, prior to this evaluation, with a written description of the physical requirements of the job.

Section 4.9 Pregnancy Leave (SEE MEMORANDUM-OF-AGREEMENT)
Employees who are disabled as a result of pregnancy, child birth, or a related medical condition, shall be granted the same consideration as an employee having any other disability.

#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

In the event state or federal law does not require that an employee who becomes the parent of either a new-born or adopted child receive at least eight weeks of leave, the following provision shall become a part of the collective bargaining agreements with the Outside, Generation, and Office and Engineering bargaining units:

<u>Parent Leave</u>. An employee who becomes the parent of either a new-born or adopted child may take up to eight (8) consecutive weeks of annual leave or leave without pay. Leave under this section must begin no later than four (4) months after birth or adoption of the child. All accrued annual leave in excess of forty (40) hours will be taken prior to commencing leave without pay. Whenever possible, parent leave shall be requested at least ninety (90) days in advance.

#### Section 4.10 Military Leave

An employee absent from the employee's employment in order to discharge military service required by law will be granted leave without pay for the period of such service or, at the employee's option, annual leave to the extent such leave has been accumulated.

#### Section 4.11 Blood Bank

Employees who volunteer in an emergency to donate blood shall be excused and compensated at their regular straight-time rate for travel time and actual time spent donating.

# Section 4.12 Employee Notice of Absence

If an employee is unable to report to work due to illness or disability, the employee will make every reasonable effort to notify Employer by either personally notifying the employee's supervisor or by leaving a message on the company voice mail of the employee's supervisor prior to the start of the employee's regularly scheduled shift.

#### **ARTICLE 5**

#### HOURS OF WORK AND COMPENSATION

# Section 5.1 Workday and Workweek

The normal work day and work week shall consist of five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday.

#### 511

Employees shall be allowed sufficient opportunity before quitting time to put away tools and equipment. Only actual time required shall be taken for this purpose.

#### 5.1.2 Meals

#### 5.1.2.1

All employees shall be granted an unpaid meal period of at least thirty (30) minutes in duration. The meal period shall begin not more than ½ hour prior to the midpoint of the shift nor more than 1 hour following the midpoint of the shift. The Employer may determine when the meal period will occur within this time frame. A crew may choose to take an unpaid meal period of one hour; however, the end of the normal workday shall be extended by one-half (½) hour.

If work continues beyond one hour past the midpoint of the shift without starting the lunch break, it shall be at double the straight time rate until relieved for the normal 1/2 hour lunch period up to a maximum of 2 hours at double the straight time rate. When the delayed lunch period is taken it shall be on the Employer's time at the straight time rate. It is intended that the employees will take the lunch period as close as practical to

their scheduled meal period, so long as the work required to restore outages, to resolve emergencies, or to make hazardous conditions safe has been completed.

If the employee is unable to eat before the end of the employee's regular scheduled shift, the employee shall be provided ½ hour at the straight time rate to eat a meal.

#### 5.1.2.2

When employees are reasonably close to their starting location or where a lunch is available, such as a restaurant, at the lunch time the Employer will allow the use of Employer's vehicle to travel to and from lunch, provided employees travel on their own time

#### 5.1.2.3

In the event the work location is such that a hot lunch and sanitary conditions are not reasonably available, the lunch period shall be considered as time worked and the employee paid at the applicable overtime rate.

#### 5.1.2.4

When sanitary conditions or a hot lunch are not available, the employees shall be notified twenty-four (24) hours in advance, if at all possible.

#### 5.1.2.6

Employees working a straight (8) hour shift with no lunchtime provision will eat on company time. The meal period shall begin not more than ½ hour prior to the midpoint of the shift nor more than 1 hour following the midpoint of the shift. The Employer may determine when the meal period will occur within this time frame.

If work continues beyond one hour past the midpoint of the shift without starting the lunch break, it shall be at double the straight time rate until relieved for the normal ½ hour lunch period up to a maximum of two (2) hours at double the straight time rate. When the delayed lunch period is taken it shall be on the Employer's time at the straight time rate. It is intended that the employees will take the lunch period as close as practical to their scheduled meal period, so long as the work required to restore outages, to resolve emergencies, or to make hazardous conditions safe has been completed.

If the employee is unable to eat before the end of the employee's regular scheduled shift, the employee shall be provided ½ hour at the straight time rate to eat a meal.

#### 5.1.2.7

When an employee is required to work two (2) hours or more immediately following his regularly scheduled shift, or four (4) hours or more after a call-out, he shall be furnished a meal by the Employer on the Employer's time at the straight time rate and every four (4) hours thereafter until relieved. Eating shall be accomplished as quickly as reasonably possible not exceeding one (1) hour if returning to work after eating. One-half (1/2) hour shall be permitted also at straight time if the employee eats after he has

finished work, but the employee shall be permitted to elect to take in lieu of the meal furnished by the Employer \$15.50 20.00 and one-half hour at the double time rate. A \$25\_30.00 (includes gratuity) ceiling is established for meals that are eaten. In the interest of safety or to minimize the duration of an outage, the Employer may require an employee to delay no more than one meal period.

# 5.1.2.8

If a call-out has caused an employee to miss breakfast at home, the Employer will provide this meal and time to eat it, not to exceed one-half (1/2) hour.

#### 5.1.2.9

Entitlement to meal money will be noted on the time card and certified by the appropriate supervisors and will be paid concurrently with the wages for the same day.

5.1.3 Workday, Workweek, Flexible Workday, Optional Workweek
The definitions of workday, workweek, flexible workday, and optional workweek are
provided within this Agreement. The Union and the Employer may modify workdays,
workweeks, or optional workweeks by mutual agreement except as provided in Section
5.1.3.8. The Employer shall give full consideration to an employee's child are needs
when making assignments to alternate work schedules.

#### **5.1.3.1** Swing Shift

A second or swing shift consisting of eight (8) hours may be established. Normally the running of service drops will be limited to daylight hours. When running of services after dark, the residents of the immediate area will be notified prior to the employees beginning such work.

The workday will be from 4:00 p.m. to 12 midnight unless otherwise mutually agreed.

#### 5.1.3.2 Mid-Shift

A third or mid-shift consisting of eight (8) hours may be established.

The workday will be from 12 midnight to 8:00 a.m. unless otherwise mutually agreed.

#### 5.1.3.3 Night Shop Mechanic

For a night shop mechanic, as defined in Section 11.1.16 herein, a normal workday will begin at 4:00 p.m. and end at 12 midnight, Monday through Friday.

5.1.3.4 Tuesday-Saturday and Sunday-Thursday Loop-Wagon
In an effort to provide on-duty coverage for a seven day per week operation, The the
Employer may establish an optional workweek for a loop wagon of Tuesday through
Saturday and/or Sunday through Thursday between the hours of 8:00 a.m. through 4:30
p.m. Employees working these shifts will be compensated at the appropriate straight
time wage rates for those hours. However, straight time hours worked Saturday by the
Tuesday through Saturday loop wagon will be compensated at 125% of the appropriate
wage rate. Straight time hours worked on Sunday by the Sunday through Thursday loop

wagon will be compensated at 135% of the appropriate wage rate. Hours-worked Tuesday-through-Friday between 8.00 a.m. and 4.30 p.m.-will-be-compensated-at-the appropriate-straight time wage rate. Straight time hours worked Saturday-between-8:00 a.m.-and-4:30-p.m.-will-be-compensated-at-125%-of-the-appropriate-wage-rate.—This compensation is provided by the Employer to the employee as an incentive to minimize the scheduling of single days of annual leave on Saturdays and Sundays. The Employer and these employees will work to minimize disruption caused by scheduling annual leave on Saturdays and Sundays. Annual leave taken or overtime pay for Saturdays will not be compensated at the 125% rate. Annual leave and overtime on Sundays will not be compensated at the 135% rate.

Assignment to the alternate workweek these optional loop wagon workweeks will be by bid provided that if no qualified bids are received, the Employer may assign employees on the basis of reverse seniority order.

# 5.1.3.5 Mechanics Helper

For a mechanics helper, as defined in Section 11.1.17 herein, a normal workday will begin at 2:00 p.m. and end at 10:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.

#### 5.1.3.6 Construction and Maintenance Classifications

The Employer may establish a swing shift for the construction and maintenance classification employees, provided 48-hour notice is given. The swing shift may be 4:00 p.m. to 12:00 midnight, Monday through Friday. Any change in shifts shall require a 48-hour notice, thereby requiring each shift scheduled to be not less than two (2) days in duration. This optional shift is to provide flexibility for the construction and maintenance classification employees.

#### 5.1.3.7 Night Warehouseman

For a night warehouseman as defined in Section 11.1.24 herein, the normal workday will be from 3:30 p.m. to 11:30 p.m. unless mutually agreed otherwise.

#### 5.1.3.8 Flexible Workday

For all recognized shifts within this Agreement, the Employer may change the start time by up to one hour before or after the regular start time. The Employer shall notify the employee(s) by the end of the shift plus one work day before the required start time (e.g., notice by 4:30 p.m. Tuesday for work on Thursday). Employees working under this provision shall attend Safety Training sessions in accordance with Article 8.4.

#### Section 5.2 Compensation

#### 5.2.1 Regular

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, compensation for the first eight (8) hours of work in any one workday and for the first forty (40) hours of regularly scheduled work in any one workweek will be at the regular rate of compensation for the job classification concerned.

#### 5.2.2 Overtime

All work performed in excess of eight (8) hours during the first five (5) days of the employee's workweek and all work performed on the sixth ((6<sup>th</sup>) and seventh (7<sup>th</sup>) days of the employee's workweek will be compensated at double the applicable straight time rate.

# 5.2.3 Holiday Compensation

When an employee is required to work on a paid holiday listed in Section 4.5 hereof, subject to the condition therein stated, he will be paid the appropriate straight time rate for the eight (8) hours of the holiday and, in addition, he will receive double the appropriate, straight time rate for all of the time worked during the holiday employees normal-workday. When an employee is required to work outside his normal-workday-he will-be-compensated at the appropriate straight time rate in addition-to-double-time. An employee returning to work from a leave without pay on the day before or after a holiday, will not be eligible for holiday pay.

# 5.2.4 Compensation During or in Lieu of Annual Leave

An employee who is eligible to receive annual leave under the terms of this Agreement and who is on annual lave will be paid at the employee's straight time rate in effect when such leave is taken and on the day the employee would be paid were the employee on duty in the employee's regular job. An employee who is eligible to receive annual leave under the terms of this Agreement and who is temporarily working in a higher classification will be paid for annual leave taken at the higher rate after the employee has served in the higher classification for more than thirty (30) calendar days.

Upon termination, an employee who is eligible to receive annual leave under the terms of this Agreement will receive a lump sum payment in lieu of accrued annual leave, which payment will be computed at the employee's straight time rate. No employee shall be required to take cash payments in lieu of annual leave except when an employee resigns, is laid off, or is terminated.

An employee who is eligible to receive annual leave under the terms of this Agreement may receive payment in lieu of annual leave on a quarterly basis. In an emergency, payment without regard to the quarterly limitation may be authorized consistent with Chugach's established policy. All cashing of leave shall be at the employee's regular hourly straight time rate of pay. An employee who is eligible to receive annual leave under the terms of this Agreement may cash in accrued leave at a higher wage rate when the employee is temporarily working in a higher classification only after the employee has served in the higher classification for more than thirty (30) days.

#### 5.2.5 Call-Out Pay

An employee who is required to return to work outside his regular hours of duty will be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at the applicable overtime rate, or holiday rate, whichever is appropriate.

The Employer need not follow any particular order on the call-out list if to do so would prolong the situation because of necessary travel time of the employee who would be normally called out. This call-out exception will apply to employees living north of Eklutna or south of Bird Creek.

In the event an employee accepts a call-out, he shall be considered working and receive the appropriate wage rate for all hours from the time the call is accepted until return to show-up, as herein defined.

Any employee accepting a call-out must be available to immediately respond and make every effort to report to the employee's appropriate show-up as soon as possible.

# 5.2.6 Call-In Pay

If an employee is instructed by his supervisor to report for scheduled work on a day such employee would not normally be on duty, or on a holiday, and such work is subsequently cancelled, the employee will be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at the applicable overtime rate, or at the holiday rate.

#### 5.2.7 Per Diem

If the Employer requires an employee to be away from home overnight, the Employer will furnish all meals and lodging. When an employee is away from home he shall have the option of receiving \$75.00 per diem in lieu of the Employer furnished meals and lodging for all days which he may be required by the Employer to remain away from home.

#### 5.2.8 Relief

An employee who has been on duty for four (4) or more hours outside of his normal shift shall not be required to report for work the following scheduled workday until he has had a minimum of ten (10) hours of relief. An employee who has been on duty for two (2) to four (4) hours beyond midnight shall not be required to report for work the following scheduled workday until he has had a minimum of eight (8) hours of relief. The employee shall be paid at his applicable rate for those scheduled hours included in his ten (10) hours of relief. If the Employer requests the employee to come back to work without the minimum of ten (10) hours of relief, the employee shall be compensated at double the straight time rate until he is relieved. In the interest of safety, the Employer may determine when an employee is required to rest.

#### 5.2.9 Notice for Out of Town Work

When an employee is required to be out of town on scheduled work, the employee will be notified two (2) working days in advance and the work period will be for a minimum of ten (10) hours a day. If the employee does not receive two (2) days notice, the employee shall be considered working and receive the appropriate wage rate for all hours from shop up to show up as defined in Section 11.12.

In the event of unexpected absence of an employee previously scheduled to work out of town, a voluntary replacement may substitute and be given a reasonable amount of time to pack personal items. Hours and compensation will be on same basis as employee given two (2) days' notice.

# Section 5.3 Compensation of Employee Working in Higher Classification

When an employee is temporarily required to perform work in another classification fro more than thirty (30) minutes in the morning before lunch, the employee shall be paid the higher rate that either classification calls for under the contract for a period not less than two (2) hours. If an employee performs such work in the afternoon for more than thirty (30) minutes, he shall be paid at the higher rate for not less than two hours.

#### 531

When a swing shift or midshift Loop Wagon leadman assumes the position of temporary foreman, he will receive a seven and one-half percent (7.5%) increase in his rate of pay. When a swing shift or midshift Loop Wagon driver assumes the position of temporary foreman, he will receive a twelve percent (12%) increase in his rate of pay.

### Section 5.4 Temporary Transfer to Lower Classification.

No employee will suffer a reduction in pay by reason of the employee's temporary transfer to a job carrying a lower pay classification. If an employee voluntarily bids into a lower pay classification, the employee will be paid at the lower pay rate.

# Section 5.5 Air Travel

Employer guarantees that, in the event an employee subject to this Agreement dies from injuries suffered as a result of being required to travel by air at the direction of Employer, or in the discharge of duties to Employer, the total sum of \$500,000 will be paid to the employee's beneficiary, or beneficiaries, as designated by the employee.

#### 5.5.1 No Flying Roster

An employee subject to this Agreement who dos not wish to be assigned to work of the Employer requiring travel by aircraft will signify that wish by signing a "No Flying Roster" to be maintained by the Employer. The employees whose names appear on the "No Flying Roster" will not be assigned to work of the Employer requiring travel by aircraft. Two flying rosters will be maintained, one fixed wing; the other rotary (helicopters) and any employee will be allowed to change status once annually.

#### 5.5.2 Aircraft

All personnel flights authorized by the Employer will be in twin-engine fixed wing aircraft. When helicopters are utilized, they will be float equipped.

#### Section 5.6 Pay Period and Payday

The Employer shall establish a payroll system providing for the payment every Thursday for the one (1) week pay period ending Wednesday the previous week. If a Thursday payday falls on a day recognized as a paid holiday by Employer, the last workday preceding will be payday. Employees subject hereto will be paid on or before the completion of their scheduled workday.

# 5.6.1 Wage Discrepancies

The following procedures will govern the compensation due an employee when a time sheet has been completed and approved by the employee's supervisor. Wages will be paid consistent with the time sheet and, in the event of a discrepancy, wages will be paid timely and discrepancies will be handled through the shop steward, employee, and supervisors involved. Journeyman having time made out by foreman will approve each daily time sheet.

# Section 5.7 Pay on Termination

When an employee is terminated for cause or to effect a reduction-in-force, the employee will be paid all wages to which the employee may be entitled, together with such other sums as may be due the employee pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, no later than the close of same business day. If an employee terminates voluntarily, all earnings and other sums due the employee will be paid to the employee not later than close of business on the next business day following the employee's last workday; provided that checkout has been successfully completed. Employees shall be given a termination slip at the time of termination.

#### Section 5.8 Statutory Employee Benefits

Upon application of an employee or authorized representative of the Union, the Employer will furnish evidence that it has complied with all statutory requirements with respect to worker's compensation, unemployment compensation, old age and survivor's insurance and any other statutory benefits to which employees of the Employer are entitled.

# Section 5.9 Longevity

Those employees listed in Appendix A hereof will receive additional compensation at the rate of one percent (1%) per year, not to exceed ten (10) years of continuous employment with the Employer, to be computed as follows: On the first (1<sup>st</sup>) of the month following the completion of each continuous year of employment the rate of compensation of the employee concerned will be increased by his accumulated percentage (up to ten percent (10%) of his current wage rate). Base rate equals wage rate plus longevity. Employees hired after March 9, 1987 shall not receive longevity.

# Section 5.10 Moving Expenses

Employees who transfer to any location outside of Anchorage or from any location outside of Anchorage to Anchorage, or to or from other mutually agreed locations, will be reimbursed for all reasonable moving expenses, and, in addition, a maximum of thirty (30) days lodging and meals while staying at a recognized motel or hotel.

#### Section 5.11 Pyramiding of Overtime

No employee shall receive more than one (1) overtime rate for the hours worked and if more than one (1) overtime rate is applicable to the same hours worked, the higher rate only shall be paid.

#### Section 5.12 Hot-Stick Work

Premium pay for hot-stick work will be allowed to crews while working with such equipment on voltages in excess of 5,000 volts. Hot-stick work will not include the opening and closing of switches, the removal and replacement of fuses, or the lifting and replacing of hot-taps when hot-line clamps are used. Hot-stick compensation will be at fifteen percent (15%) above the applicable hourly rate.

# Section 5.13 High Work

All linemen employed on work 70 feet above the ground, or higher, shall be eligible for high time for all the time they are above 70 feet. High time is defined as one (1) hour straight time above the applicable hourly rate of pay. A minimum of two (2) hours high time shall be paid to any employee who qualifies for such consideration. No high time shall be paid for any such work which is performed less than 70 feet above the ground or on wood-structures.

# Section 5.14 Licensing and Certifications

The Employer shall pay for, or reimburse employees for, all expenses incurred to maintain any license and certification required by Employer, or by local, state or federal law or regulation, as a condition of employment, except that employees have sole responsibility to pay for expenses incurred to maintain a journeyman's certificate of fitness or to have the commercial driver's license if the employee is required to have the commercial driver's license if the employee is required to have the commercial driver's license under federal law. Employees shall obtain written approval from the Employer prior to incurring expenses for which an employee seeks reimbursement. Where the Employer is required to pay the expenses of licensing or certification, the Employer shall determine the means and methods used to provide any necessary training or testing.

#### **ARTICLE 6**

#### **APPRENTICES**

#### Section 6.0

**Employer agrees to** attach to contract, for convenience, apprentice-requirements promulgated by the Union, abide by the Bureau of Apprenticeship Training approved Training Standards for apprentices.

# Section 6.1 Apprentices

An apprentice is an employee who is being trained to qualify as a journeyman in one of the electrical workers trades covered by this Agreement and who has been properly indentured by the Alaska Joint Electrical Apprenticeship and Training Council Trust (AJEATT). All apprenticeship training will conform to the AJEATT Standards. Alaska Electrical Industry Apprenticeship-Standards, as formulated by the Anchorage Electrical Joint Apprenticeship Committee in cooperation with the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training. United States Department of Labor. In recognition of the nature of such apprenticeship employment, the Employer agrees that:

#### **6.1.1** Ratios

# The ratio of apprentice to journeyman will not be greater than the following:

- (-1)-Street-lights:--One-to-One;
- (2)-Maintenance-and-construction:-One-to-two:
- (3)-Hot-work:-One-to-three.

# Two man crew - One journeyman and One Apprentice

Street lighting including street light head and mast installation, repair, replacement and re-lamping. Substation inspections and fire crew work may be performed by one journeyman and one apprentice or two journeymen and one apprentice; however, high voltage switching must be done by at least two journeymen or other qualified employees. When working on secondary voltages of 400 volts or more there must be a minimum of one journeyman and one hot apprentice.

# Three Man Crew - Two Journeymen and One Apprentice

[Two journeymen and one apprentice] may install new small underground distribution line extension construction. When one journeyman id absent for a day, the remaining journeyman and apprentice may continue to install underground secondaries.

## **Substation Work**

In cases where there are usually three (3) journeymen, one can be an apprentice. For all other substation work, the ratio shall be three journeymen to one apprentice. When one of the three (3) journeymen is absent for a day or less the remaining journeymen and apprentice can continue to perform the work of the three (3) man crew provided it can be done safely with fewer than three (3) journeymen.

## Four or Five Man Crew

The crew structure shall consist of three journeymen and one hot apprentice or four journeymen and one hot or cold apprentice. The above crew structures can perform all aspects of Transmission and Distribution Construction and Maintenance.

## Transformer/PCB Shop

The transformer shop is generally staffed with two journeymen. When an apprentice is assigned to the transformer shop for a training opportunity and one journeyman is absent for a day, the remaining journeyman and apprentice may continue to work provided the work is confined to the shop for a cold apprentice.

# Section 6.2 Duties of Apprentice Lineman

The following rules concerning apprentice lineman's duties have been adopted by the Alaska Joint Electrical Joint Apprenticeship and Training Trust Committee: (AJEATT).

#### 6.2.1

During the first year, or 2,000 hours, the apprentice should be restricted to work on the ground only. The employee will become familiar with the nomenclature of tools and materials and the use of various tools. The employee will actually work with tools under the supervision of a journeyman on such work as making up guys, fitting cross-arms, pulling anchor guys, installing ground rods, tamping poles and anchors, etc. During this period the employee will be instructed in the proper techniques of handling wire and other materials that require special handling.

#### 622

During the second year, or second 2,000 hour period, the employee will commence learning to climb and will do all phases of line work which do not take the employee into proximity of the voltages above 480 volts. The employee will work closely with and under the direct supervision of a journeyman, and the employee will be encouraged to learn by doing.

#### 6.2.3

During the third year and fourth years of apprenticeship, the employee should do all phases of line work. During this period of apprenticeship the employee should learn to work with hot-sticks and learn to work on other circuits that are energized with rubber gloves. The employee should learn to properly apply rubber goods on the structures and wire on which the employee is working.

#### 6.2.4

During the employee's entire apprenticeship, the employee should take advantage of every possible opportunity to learn how to operate equipment, such as diggers, cats excavators, dozers, bucket trucks, boom trucks, winches, etc. The only limitations shall be that under no circumstances shall the employee be used to operate equipment unless there is a journeyman available and present who can also operate the aforementioned equipment. In addition, only during the third or fourth year of apprenticeship shall the employee operate equipment used in work performed in the primary zone of line work.

#### Section 6.3

The wage and benefit rates for apprentice positions shall be consistent with those established in the Inside/Outside NECA IBEW Alaska Electrical Construction | Agreement, as amended.

# Section 6.4 Apprentice Contributions

The Employer agrees to contribute \$.40 per compensable hour for each employee to provide improvement programs and apprenticeship training; \$.20 of the designated \$.40 per compensable hour shall be deducted from all classifications of employees base rate

within this Agreement. Contributions shall be remitted monthly to the Alaska Electrical Apprenticeship and Training Trust Fund. Either party may at any time, with seven days written notification to the other party, cancel that portion of the contribution designated.

#### **ARTICLE 7**

#### ORGANIZATION OF THE EMPLOYER

# Section 7.1 Organization of Employer

The Union and the Employer recognize the importance of modern management principles and the continuing need for flexible management. As a part of this program the Employer will maintain departmental organizational charts. These will be made available to the Union within (10) working days upon request.

# Section 7.2 Delegation of Authority

Delegation of authority shall be from an appropriate company representative, including supervisors, to a foreman, senior technician, senior meter reader, senior shop mechanic or leadman who, in turn, will instruct journeyman, operators, apprentices, or other employees, as assigned.

# Section 7.3 Personnel Evaluations Reports

Once each calendar year all employees covered by this Agreement may be evaluated for standards of performance by his immediate management supervisor. The immediate management supervisor will discuss the evaluation with the employee privately, and the employee may comment on the personnel evaluation report. The complete evaluation, along with any employee comments, shall be included in the employee's official personnel file.

#### **ARTICLE 8**

#### **SAFETY**

## Section 8.1 State Safety Codes

The applicable Electrical safety codes which have been adopted by the State of Alaska, and any duly adopted amendments thereto or substitutions therefore, are hereby adopted by the parties as the minimum standards of safety to be met in the implementation of this Agreement and the assignment to and discharge of work by employees covered herein.

# Section 8.2 Dangerous or Hazardous Work

In the interest of safety, two (2) journeyman, or a journeyman and third year apprentice, will work together on all circuits energized at 400 volts or higher. The foreman will decide, after due consultation with the employees concerned, whether weather or other conditions permit the performance of hazardous or dangerous work. All voltages in excess of 5,000 will be deemed dangerous and hazardous and will be worked only with

hot sticks. All voltages between 400 and 5,000 will be worked with rubber gloves or hotsticks, or with both such gloves and hot-sticks.

#### 8.2.1

Subject—to—Section—8.2.2 a All work performed inside energized substations and switchyards shall be done by journeyman substation lineman, substation technicians, journeyman lineman, electronics technicians, journeyman wiremen, journeyman metermen, construction, and maintenance men, and—mechanics and apprentices.

Nothing herein precludes management personnel from being in substations issuing instructions or performing design and as-builting work in accordance with the "Letter of Understanding between CEA and IBEW Concerning Relay/Control Wiring Technician, Substation Technician and Substation Lineman Classifications," so long as such design and as-builting work does not involve the use of hand tools.

#### 8.2.2

If after due consideration, work performed by other crafts, or design engineers inside or in the vicinity of switchyards and substations, is deemed by the Employer to require a safety watch, a qualified substation lineman, substation technician, or journeyman lineman shall be assigned as a safety watch.

## Section 8.3 Helicopters

No employee subject hereto will be required to work under a hovering helicopter. The Employer agrees to honor any state safety rules covering helicopters. In addition, the ground crew will be furnished a radio with the helicopter's frequency while working with helicopters. No equipment shall ride in the passenger area when passengers are present.

## Section 8.4 Safety Training

The Employer will schedule, and employees subject hereto will attend and participate during normal working hours in safety training meetings on the following schedule:

One-half hour safety meeting on each Monday (or the first working day thereafter).

One hour safety training meeting on the third working Monday of each month. This one hour meeting shall be immediately following and in addition to the one-half hour safety meeting referenced above.

The Employer shall provide the applicable training required to secure and maintain a state approved first aid and CPR certificate.

A total of four (4) hours annually of pole top rescue training for all classifications required to perform aerial work will be conducted each calendar year.

Employer may exclude meter readers from attendance at such safety meetings, except that such employees shall attend a minimum of four (4) safety meetings during a calendar year.

Management and Employee Committee members or their representatives will participate in these safety meetings.

Employees due at the meetings shall not be excused if normally due at work. Outages and emergency situations shall be taken care of immediately, if possible. Safety meetings missed due to outages or emergency situations shall be made up, if possible, within the month that it was scheduled.

A Safety Committee consisting of two (2) employees subject hereto and two (2) representatives of the Employer shall meet at least one (1) time a month for the purpose of reviewing the progress of safety training and making such changes in the program as the facts may require. At the final monthly meetings in each calendar year, the Safety Committee will adopt a safety training program for the calendar year next following. Training which is required by regulation shall be evaluated for inclusion by the Safety Committee based on its applicability to safety. Union will provide for the selection of employee representatives for the Safety Committee, including filling vacancies thereon. It will be the mutual concern of the parties hereto that, recognizing their common objective of promoting the safety of employees and the public, reasonable and rational safety programs and practices will be initiated and diligently implemented.

Any rolling stock may be red-tagged if at least one (1) management representative and one (1) union representative in the Outside Unit agree that the equipment under their jurisdiction requires repair prior to use.

#### Section 8.5 First Aid Certificates

All employees performing the duties of foreman, leadman or senior classifications covered hereby will possess a current Red Cross First Aid Certificate and a current CPR Certificate of a State of Alaska approved equal.

# Section 8.6 Physical Examination

Prior to starting work in a classification covered hereunder, all applicants, following the notice of hire, may be required to have a complete medical examination. The Employer requires that such medical examination be made by a properly licensed medical doctor. This doctor will be chosen by the Employer and such examination will be at the Employer's expense. Following notice of hire the Employer shall make every effort to schedule pre-employment physicals as soon as possible.

Individuals who are hired by the Employer for a position with a federal or state requirement to have a Commercial Driver's License ("CDL") will be required to report to the clinic chosen by the Employer for a pre-employment drug test immediately upon notification of hire. The pre-employment drug testing will be done in accordance with the standards set by the Department of Transportation. The pre-employment physical for individuals with a CDL requirement may not be performed until the Employer receives notification that the pre-employment drug test was negative. Individuals who

refuse to report immediately for the pre-employment drug test will be rejected. The Employer shall notify the Union of any such refusal to test.

# Section 8.7 Emergency and First Aid Equipment

The Employer will furnish such safety devices and equipment as may be reasonably necessary to the safety of employees hereunder, and such first aid equipment and supplies as may be reasonably necessary for proper emergency treatment of such employees. All reasonably necessary protective equipment for employees working on energized facilities, including hard hats, gloves, and rubber boots, will be furnished and properly maintained by the Employer. Employees hereunder will use safety equipment on all appropriate occasions.

## Section 8.8 Heated Man-Hauls

Heated man-hauls will be provided at all times whenever possible.

## Section 8.9 Oversized Items

Unloading of large and bulky items at International requiring equipment other than a forklift will be supervised by a journeyman lineman.

Large and bulky items referenced above are defined as equipment and materials related to work covered under this Agreement. Except for the loading and unloading of wood and steel pipes, substation class power transformers, breakers and structures requiring the use of cranes and special rigging, qualified and trained warehousemen may utilize boom trucks of 12 tons or less rating, without special rigging that is appropriate for handling materials moving into and out of Chugach's warehouse complex.

# Section 8.10 For Cause Drug Testing

The Employer and the Union are committed to maintaining a safe and healthful working environment for all employees. In addition, Employer has an obligation to ensure public safety and trust with regard to Association work environment and services. Accordingly, the use of alcohol or controlled substances, including marijuana, cocaine, opiates, heroin, amphetamines, and phencyclidine, or other controlled substances prohibited by state or federal law is strictly prohibited and may result in discipline in accordance with the appropriate labor agreements and Employer's policies.

"For-Cause" drug testing will be applicable to all employees covered by this Agreement.

No Bargaining Unit Employee will be tested for drug metabolites or alcohol unless there exists probable suspicion that the employee to be tested is using or is under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Probable suspicion means suspicion based on specific personal observations that the Employer representative can describe concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or breath odor of the on-duty employee.

An employee suspected of using or being under the influence of drugs or alcohol may have a Union Shop Steward or alternate present when the employee is being observed by Employer for the above suspicions.

The testing shall be done by a qualified Laboratory (the Laboratory) designated by Employer.

The Employer representative and Steward must have received training in the signs of drug and alcohol intoxication in a training program endorsed or conducted by Employer, except that training is not a prerequisite in situations where the employee's drug or alcohol use or impairment would be obvious to a person of ordinary intelligence and perception. Employer will make attendance at its drug and alcohol training program available to Union Shop Stewards so they may receive the same training as Employer representatives.

If the Employer Representative has probable suspicion to believe that the employee is using or is under the influence of controlled substances or alcohol, he/she shall require the employee (in the presence of a Union Shop Steward) to go to the Laboratory. Transportation to the laboratory will be provided by the Employer. In the event a Shop Steward is not immediately available, Employer will contact the alternate Shop Steward to go to the laboratory. In the event that the alternate is not immediately available, Employer will contact the Union Business Representative or his/her designated representative. If none of the above are available, Employer reserves the right to observe an employee suspected of using or being under the influence of drugs or alcohol without the present of a Union Representative. Additionally, if none of the above Union representatives are available, Employer reserves the right to require an employee when Employer has probable suspicion that he/she is using or is under the influence of controlled substances or alcohol, to go to the Laboratory to provide urine specimen for laboratory testing without the presence of a Union representative.

An employee suspected of using or being under the influence of controlled substances or alcohol will be suspended with pay pending Employer's receipt of the test results from the Laboratory.

The employee may not be required to take a drug test if the employee's actions are reasonably explained to the satisfaction of the Employer representative to be due to causes other than the use of controlled substances (such as, but not by way of limitation, fatigue, lack of sleep, side effect of prescription or over-the-counter medications, reactions to noxious fumes or smokes, etc.). In the event the Employer is unable to determine whether the abnormal behavior is due to drugs or alcohol or to other causes, the drug testing procedure contained herein shall be used.

It will be the responsibility of the employee to notify the Laboratory of any prescription or non-prescription medication the employee is taking.

The Employer representative must make a written statement of the observations on which probable suspicion is based within twenty-four (24) hours. A copy must be provided to the Shop Steward or other Union official. Included in this statement will be the Employer representative's efforts to contact the Stewards or representative.

Third party reports of drug use or aberrant behavior which are not confirmed by Employer representative observations shall not constitute probably suspicion or be grounds for testing.

The Employer will require urine specimens only, unless the employee consents to withdrawing of a blood specimen. At the time the specimens are collected, the employee shall be given a copy of the specimen collection procedures. Specimens must be immediately sealed, labeled and initialed by the employee to insure that the specimens tested by the Laboratory are those of the employee. The employee shall sign test laboratory form(s) authorizing the tests and disclosure of the test results to the Employer.

Failure to provide a specimen, refusal to take a drug test or sign test laboratory form(s) or cooperate with the clinic personnel will constitute a presumption of intoxication and the employee will be subject to appropriate disciplinary actions.

The Laboratory shall maintain the chain of custody by reasonable means designated to show the handling of the specimen from the time it is collected until all tests are completed and thereafter, until the specimen is properly disposed of.

Split testing methodologies and chain of custody procedures will be provided from the Laboratory for review by the Employer and Union. Other laboratories may be used upon mutual consent of the Employer and Union.

The initial and confirmation cutoff levels used when screening urine specimens to determine whether they are negative or positive for various classes of drugs and alcohol shall be those contained in the Scientific and Technical Guidelines for Federal Drug Testing Programs (subject to revision in accordance with subsequent amendments to the HSS Guidelines), except that the cutoff levels for the following substances shall be as follows:

Controlled	Initial Test Cutoff	Confirmatory Test Cutoff	
Substance	Levels (ng/ml)	Levels (ng/ml)	
Marijuana metabolics	50	15(1)	
Cocaine metabolics	300	150(2)	
Opiate metabolics	300(3)		
Morphine		300	
Codeine		300	

Phencyclidine	25	25
Amphetamines	1,000	
Amphetamines		500
Methamphetamines		500
Alcohoi	100 mg/dl	n/a

- (1) Delta-9-tetrahydrocannabinol-9-carboxylic acid
- (2) Bensoylecgonine
- (3) 25 mg/ml if immunoassay specific for free morphine

In reporting a positive test, the Laboratory shall state the specific substance(s) for which the test is positive and shall provide the quantitative results of both the screening and the (GC/MS) confirmation tests, in terms of nanograms per milliliter. All positive test results must be reviewed by a laboratory director or a medical doctor and certified as accurate.

Test results which are below the levels specified herein shall be considered negative indications and shall be reported to the Employer as such.

Employer recognizes that the results of a drug or alcohol test will be considered medical records and held confidential to the extent permitted by law. Employer will limit disclosure of information acquired in connection with a drug or alcohol test, including positive and negative test results, to the following, unless the employee consents in writing to disclosure to others:

- A. The employee;
- B. The employee's supervisors and other management officials with a need to know:
- C. The Shop Steward or other authorized Union representative if the employee is represented by the Union;
- D. Test laboratory personnel;
- E. The Employee Assistance Program counselor or other rehabilitation personnel if the employee seeks or is required to use same;
- F. An arbitration tribunal in the event of a grievance regarding the employee's alleged drug or alcohol use.

Employees suffering from alcoholism or drug abuse will receive the same consideration that is presently extended to employees having any other illness. Employees will be

allowed to utilize their annual leave or leave without pay to pursue an appropriate program of treatment.

Employer maintains an Employee Assistance Program to aid its employees in overcoming drug and/or alcohol related problems.

## Section 8.11 Random Drug Testing

In the interest of promoting the highest standards of workplace excellence and safety, the parties agree to adopt a random drug testing program. Employees shall be subject to random drug and alcohol testing in accordance with the protocol and procedures specified in 49 CFR Sec. 382.305. The program shall become effective at such time as the Employer implements a parallel program for non-represented employees.

## **ARTICLE 9**

#### DISCIPLINE

# Section 9.1 Misuse of the Employer's

Employees will not use the property or time of the Employer without proper authorization for personal or other non-work purposes, nor will such property be used in a careless, abusive, or illegal manner.

# Section 9.2 Compliance with Rules and Regulations

Failure of an employee to comply with the working rules contained herein or other written regulations of the Employer, to follow lawful and proper orders and instructions or to comply with safety regulations that the Employer has reduced to writing will be kept in a place that is readily accessible to all employees concerned.

## Section 9.3 Performance of Work

Failure to perform work in a safe, efficient, diligent, or productive manner may result in appropriate discipline.

## Section 9.4 Consumption of Drugs/Alcohol

An employee who is unable to discharge the employee's duties due to the use of alcohol or use of illegal drugs will be considered incompetent, subject, however, to other applicable provisions of this Agreement.

## Section 9.5 Discharge

Although the Employer retains the right to discipline an employee for just cause, it agrees that in case of discharge, one of the designated Union representatives shall be noticed of the reason for the contemplated discharge prior to taking any action against the employee, unless exigent circumstances or unusual confidentiality requirements preclude such notice. Any employee who is discharged will remain on the payroll until such time as the employee is given a written statement of the reasons for the employee's termination. A copy of this written statement will be provided to the Business Manager of the Union via fax machine at the time the statement is provided to

the employee. Either the Union or the discharged employee may take exception to such discharge under the grievance procedure, as set forth in this Agreement.

# Section 9.6 · Progressive Discipline

No bargaining unit employee shall be disciplined or discharged except for just cause. The Employer will maintain a practice of progressive discipline. The Employer's disciplinary process is meant to be corrective and not punitive; many incidents may not result in discipline, but may require only verbal advice, instruction or counseling. The steps in the progressive discipline process are: verbal reprimand, written reprimand, suspension, disciplinary demotion, or discharge. Based on the seriousness of a particular offense, discipline may be imposed at any reasonable level. The supervisor responsible for interviewing an employee reasonably suspected of misconduct should notify the employee that the employee may have a Union representative present at an investigatory meeting.

## Section 9.7 Statement of Intent Regarding Progressive Discipline

Under the Progressive Discipline Section of each collective bargaining agreement, the parties intend that the Employer should notify an employee that the employee may have a Union representative present when the employee is being interviewed for suspected misconduct. If the Employer fails to so advise an employee, the parties do not intend that this fact, in and of itself, will preclude discipline from being imposed on employee, or will prohibit the use of information gathered at the interview. However, if an employee's Weingarten rights are violated, this Statement of Intent does not affect whether the Weingarten violation precludes discipline from being imposed on the employee or prohibits the use of information gathered at the interview.

## **ARTICLE 10**

## **GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

## Section 10.1 Policy on Grievances

The parties hereto recognize that the prompt and equitable settlement of employee grievances is essential to the maintenance of sound labor relations. The parties further recognize that such grievances are usually more satisfactorily and expeditiously settled at the lowest supervisory level at which an acceptable understanding can be reached. Every reasonable effort will be made by the shop steward, in cooperation with Employer's General manager, to correct violations and infractions of this Agreement. The shop steward, upon request to the shop steward's immediate supervisor, shall be given a reasonable amount of time during working hours, and without loss of pay, to handle grievances pertaining to the shop steward's area of responsibility consistent with the provisions of Section 2.6 Shop Steward of this Agreement. During outages and other emergencies, the shop steward may be required to give priority attention to Employer's business. Immediate supervisor means appropriate management personnel.

#### Section 10.2 Grievance

A grievance is hereby defined as an alleged violation of the terms of this Agreement. .

#### Section 10.3 Grievance Procedure

Any employee, group of employees having a grievance shall proceed, according to the following steps, to seek a satisfactory settlement of the grievance. To provide the best opportunity for the grievance to be resolved at the lowest level, none of the following steps shall be omitted:

Step One:

The employee shall discuss the grievance with the employee's immediate supervisor. The employee may have the employee's shop steward present during this initial discussion. If the employee and supervisor fail to agree on the matter, Step Two will be followed.

Step Two:

The employee will discuss the grievance with the employee's shop steward who will, in turn, seek to settle the grievance with the employee's immediate supervisor. If the shop steward cannot reach an agreement with the employee's supervisor. Step Three will follow.

Step Three: The shop steward or designated Union Representative shall state the employee's grievance in writing; the statement will include the following:

- The nature of the grievance and the circumstances (a) out of which it arose, including the date of occurrence.
- (b) The remedy or correction the Employer is required to make.
- The section or sections of the Agreement relied upon or alleged to have been violated.
- The signature of the grievant and the shop steward or designated Union Representative.
- The date the statement of the grievance was prepared and the date the statement of grievance was received by the Employer.

Step Four:

The written statement of the grievance shall be turned over to the Union's Business Manager or business representative to be presented to the Employer's designated representative within fifteen (15) working days of the occurrence.

Step Five: The Union and the Employer will have fourteen (14) calendar

days to discuss the grievance, hold meetings, and try to come to a mutually agreeable settlement. Within seven (7) calendar days after the end of the specified fourteen (14) day period, Employer will provide Union with a written

statement of its position on the grievance.

Step Six: If the grievance is not resolved at Step Five, the Union may

submit the matter to arbitration within seven (7) calendar days from the date Union receives Employer's Statement.

#### Section 10.4 Arbitration

The Union shall submit a request to the Seattle Office of the American Arbitration Association (AAA) for a panel of eleven (11) potential arbitrators. A copy of the request shall be sent to the Employer. After receipt of the panel from AAA, the parties shall select an arbitrator using the strike method. The order for striking shall be determined by the toss of the coin; the Union Representative shall toss the coin and the management representative shall call heads or tails. The arbitration hearing shall be conducted consistent with the rules established by AAA.

It is mutually understood and agreed that arbitration hearings will be conducted without unnecessary delay. Each party shall be given reasonable opportunity to be heard by its representatives, and to produce witnesses and documentary evidence and to cross-examine. The Arbitrator's authority shall be limited as follows except as provided otherwise in this Agreement:

- (a) The Arbitrator shall consider only the particular issue or issues presented in writing by the Employer or the Union which have been processed through the grievance procedure.
- (b) The arbitrator shall have the power to interpret the terms of the Agreement, but the arbitrator's decision shall be based solely on the existing terms of the Agreement, and the arbitrator shall not have the power to add to, subtract from or modify any of the terms of the Agreement.
- (c) The arbitrator shall have no power to establish wage rates, job classifications or fringe benefits of any kind.

Although no formal rules of evidence are contemplated by this Agreement, the arbitrator shall determine the admissibility of evidence, admissibility being principally a matter of relevancy, materially and the avoidance of undue repetition. Each of the parties hereto agrees to produce all books, records and documents or other materials, or certified copies thereof, which, in the opinion of the arbitrator, are relevant to the issues of the grievance.

The judgment of the Arbitrator shall be final and conclusive on the Employer and the Union. The parties further agree that, from the time Employer first was notified of the grievance until it is settled, including the entry of the judgment of the Arbitrator when the grievance has been submitted to arbitration, the subject of the controversy will remain status quo as of the time the grievance was first noticed.

Failure of either party to act within the time schedule set forth in this procedure without the express written agreement of the other party will be considered as a default and the grievance shall be considered to have been settled in favor of the non-defaulting party.

Subject to a different agreement between the parties, the party losing the decision shall bear the total expense of the Arbitrator, however, each party will pay the wages, salaries, fees and expenses of its witnesses. The Arbitrator, as part of the award, shall identify the losing party.

## **ARTICLE 11**

#### **WORKING RULES - OUTSIDE PLANT**

#### Section 11.1 Definitions

# 11.1.1 Journeyman

A journeyman is a worker who has met the requirements for practical experience and training in the employees classification, or the equivalent of such experience and training and has passed a journeyman's examination.

## 11.1.2 Foreman

A foreman is a journeyman lineman who directs other employees as assigned. He may not direct more than one crew or over twelve employees. Except as provided below, at the foreman's discretion, he may work with the tools provided it does not interfere with the supervision of safety. Whenever a foreman is directing a construction crew he shall not work with the tools. On underground work a foreman directing less than four journeyman, including the foreman, may work with the tools.

# 11.1.3 Maintenance & Operations (M/O) Foreman

The maintenance & operations foreman is a journeyman lineman who directs loop wagons and other employees as assigned. This employee may not direct more than twelve employees.

# 11.1.4 Loop Wagon Leadman

A loop wagon leadman is the responsible journeyman lineman on a loop wagon on which two (2) journeyman linemen are employed. This employee will be responsible for the inventory of tools and material assigned to such loop wagon and will maintain such records as are necessary to its operation.

# 11.1.5 Cable Splicer Foreman

The cable splicer foreman is a journeyman lineman who will direct cable splicer(s). When four (4) or more cable splicers are employed the foreman will not work with the tools and he will not direct more than nine (9) cable splicers.

# 11.1.6 Cable Splicer

A cable splicer is an employee who is required to splice metal-sheathed cable, whether energized or not, and to attach potheads or other devices to metal-sheathed cable.

# 11.1.7 Cable Splicer's Helper

A cable splicer's helper is a journeyman lineman who works with and assists a cable splicer. If a journeyman lineman is not available, an apprentice in his third year of training may be used as such helper and at the applicable apprentice wages.

# 11.1.8 Swing and Mid-Shift Lineman

A night crew lineman is a journeyman lineman who works on the night crew as provided for in Section 5.1.3.1 and 5.1.3.2.

#### 11.1.9 Locator Lineman

The locator lineman is charged with locating any of CEA's underground facilities.

# 11.1.10 Equipment Operator

An equipment operator will preferably be a journeyman lineman. The equipment operator will operate line trucks, mechanical earth augers, crawler-type equipment, and such other specialized mechanical equipment as may be used by the Employer in line construction and maintenance.

# 11.1.11 Field/Wiring Inspector

A field/wiring inspector is a journeyman lineman who is qualified to and will inspect the wiring of premises for compliance with applicable safety codes and safety regulations. This employee will also inspect other work done or to be done by or for the Employer.

## 11.1.12 Senior Shop Mechanic

A senior shop mechanic is a shop mechanic who will direct other shop mechanics as assigned. The employee may be required to work with the tools. This employee shall receive instructions from the appropriate Company representative.

## 11.1.13 Shop Mechanic

A shop mechanic is an employee who is qualified to and will service, repair, and maintain all mechanical equipment.

## 11.1.14 Night Shop Mechanic

A night shop mechanic is an employee who is qualified to and will service, repair, and maintain all mechanical equipment and whose workday is as defined in Section 5.1.3.1. The employee shall be restricted to non-hazardous duties unless two (2) mechanics are on duty.

# 11.1.15 Mechanics Helper

A mechanics helper is an employee reporting to the senior shop mechanic responsible to: refuel vehicles, add and change oil, and lube. Replace lamps and lenses, clean windows, check transmission and differential oil levels, check and add engine coolant and washer fluid, check tire inflation and tread condition. May include changing tires on light vehicles, i.e., on ½ ton or under in the field. Maintain vehicle service records. Report all safety related conditions to senior shop mechanic.

#### 1-1-16----- Meter Tester

The Meter Tester position has been eliminated. The employee-last holding that position (Gary-Hamilton) has been grandfathered into the Meter-Technician-position.—This-is-not to-be-construed-to-imply that he is a Journeyman Lineman or-that-he is qualified for a position—other—than--Meter. Technician which requires Journeyman Lineman as—a prerequisite.—He-may work-only in- areas covered- by the Meter-Technician-position description. When a reduction-in force of regular employees-is-necessary,-he-will-be considered-part of Group-(a), Article 3, Section 3.5.2 (Reduction-in-Force).

## 11.1.17 Night Warehouseman

A night warehouseman is an employee who, under the supervision of a warehouse foreman, assists the latter in receiving, storing, and issuance of equipment and material and the maintenance of records pertaining thereto.

#### 11.1.18 Connects and Disconnects Lineman

Connects and disconnects requiring removal, setting, or booting of meters will be done by journeyman lineman.

# 11.1.19 Relay/Control Wiring Technicians, Substation <u>Technicians</u> and <u>Lineman</u>

Jurisdiction will be as defined in the respective positions descriptions and appropriate supporting jurisdictional diagrams dated 5/28/98. Relay/Control Wiring Technicians will perform low voltage switching and operations of equipment to perform their work.

#### 11.1.20 Line Patrol Foreman

A lineman patrol foreman is a journeyman lineman who patrols, inspects and evaluates transmissions and distribution facilities, works directly with supervisors, designers, inspectors, engineer technicians, surveyors, and lineman, as assigned, conducts routine inspections and evaluations to determine where maintenance is required and how it will be accomplished.

## Section 11.2 Equipment

Journeyman lineman will furnish their own body belts and climbers. The Employer will furnish to all regular employees such safety straps, gaffs, and all other necessary tools and equipment, except shop mechanics. If the personal tools or equipment furnished by all employees are destroyed or damaged by fire, storm, flood, or documented theft

while stored on the Employer's premises, or carried in the Employer's equipment, the Employer will replace or repair such tools at no expense to the employees.

#### 11.2.1 Coveralls and Jackets

Employer agrees to furnish coveralls to shop mechanics and lightweight jackets with company insignia to all employees. Such clothing will be replaced at the Employer's expense when no longer serviceable.

## 11.2.2 Identification Clothing

For purposes of identification the Employer agrees to provide meter readers with shirts, sweatshirts, coat and hats with Chugach insignia.

#### 11.2.3 Meter Reader

Meter Readers in areas south of Portage, Moose Pass and Cooper Landing shall be provided with a vehicle equipped with a two-way radio or cellular phone.

#### 11.2.4 Mechanics Tool Allowance

The employer will pay a mechanics tool allowance of \$ $50\underline{100}.00$  per month not to exceed \$ $600\underline{1,200}.00$  in any calendar year payable not later than the first pay period of each month.

## 11.2.5 Cleaning

Clothing furnished by the Employer to the mechanics will be cleaned or laundered, when necessary, at the Employer's expense. Cleaning and maintenance of Employer furnished jackets will be employee's responsibility.

## 11.2.6 Clothing Allowance

The clothing allowances for journeyman lineman, Relay-Control Wiring, Substation Technicians and Utility Arborist will be \$350,400.00 per year.

The clothing allowances for meter readers will be \$1500.00 per year.

The clothing allowances for warehouseman personnel will be \$1500.00 per year.

These clothing allowances will be effective January 1, 1999 2007, and each year thereafter payable not later than January 30 of each year.

The Union and the Employer agree to negotiate revisions to this section if applicable law governing required employee clothing changes after execution of this Agreement.

These clothing allowances are intended to be used by employees to purchase and wear: line boots, bunny boots, carhartts, winter clothing and rain gear.

## Section 11.3 Construction

Framing poles, boring and fitting cross-arms, making guys, and setting anchors will be done by journeyman lineman provided that a crew setting and tamping poles on new

construction will consist of a minimum of one (1) journeyman lineman, and one (1) apprentice and a foreman.

# 11.3.1 Pole Handling

Employer will contract or otherwise arrange for the delivery of utility poles at the point of "first drop", that is, at its pole storage facility or without reference to this Agreement.

## 11.3.2 Handling and Distribution

Utility pole handling and/or distribution of utility poles to job sites, subsequent to the foregoing "first drop" will be assigned to employees of Employer when the work related thereto is to be performed by Employer's employees, and will normally be the responsibility of the electrical contractor, but Employer may, at its discretion, assign utility pole handling and distribution work to its own employees without regard to the use to be made thereof, or the purpose for such pole handling and/or distribution.

## 11.3.3 Trenching

All trenching from the pole or pedestal to the meter base of the user of electricity will be done by journeyman lineman who may be assisted by apprentices. An individual homeowner may dig his own trench in order to preserve trees and shrubbing or for other esthetic reasons.

# 11.3.4 Transportation of Electrical Equipment

Electrical equipment to be transported from Chugach facilities will be loaded on trailers or railroad cars by journeyman linemen assisted by permit operators as required. Such loading may be performed by <u>qualified and trained warehousemen personnel-if such loading can be accomplished by with a forklift, boom truck rated at twelve tons or less without special rigging, or by hand. Transference of loads to another conveyance will be done by the applicable trades. Unloading of the electrical equipment will be done by journeyman linemen assisted by permit operators.</u>

#### 11.3.5 One Man Crew

A journeyman lineman shall perform the work and may work as a one-man crew when executing connects and disconnects (meter removal, installation and booting only) locates, inspections, routine switching of circuits as provided under Section 11.4.1, line patrol and emergency repairs to the extent necessary to safeguard the general public. At its discretion, the Employer may assign such one-man crew to perform any of the above listed duties, during normal workday and workweek, or assign a one-man crew to temporarily fill out or augment an existing crew.

One-man crew duties shall not extend beyond 8:00 p.m. or sunset, whichever is earlier.

## Section 11.4 Call-Outs and Switching

All lineman classification call-outs shall be done by at least two (2) journeyman linemen; except one (1) person may be called out for work in accordance with Article 11.3.5, one man crew. The first person to respond to a two (2) person call-out may assist police

and/or fire personnel to safe guard the general public or perform other work to prepare for response to the outage so long as this work can be done safely.

Call-outs for work determined to be in the following classifications may be performed by calling out one (1) employee.

- A. Relay/Control/Substation Alarm Response not involving high voltage switching.
- B. Warehousemen.
- C. Mechanics.
- D. Construction and Maintenance Personnel.
- E. Meter Technicians (In accordance with Article 8.2).

In order to provide for the equalization of overtime the Employer will establish an alphabetical call-out list and will make every reasonable effort to insure that call-outs are made following an alphabetical rotation, starting after the last person called. Separate lists will be maintained for: journeyman linemen, substation technicians, relay control wiring technicians, warehousemen, mechanics and construction and maintenance personnel.

Journeyman linemen with specific technical expertise such as Substation Linemen, Hazardous Materials Response Linemen, PCB/Apparatus Linemen and Meter Technicians may indicate these skills on the linemen call-out list.

Appropriate management personnel may direct power control to call-out journeyman linemen with technical expertise to respond to priority alarms, spill response, and meter problems.

Personnel called out because of their technical expertise will be advised that the call-out is technical in nature. However, these personnel may be utilized for other work within the employee's classification. The technical nature of the call-out will be noted on the call-out list and these personnel will not be called for a regular call-out within the same alphabetical rotation.

Hot Apprentices may be called out after the Dispatch Center has gone through the callout list and all journeymen on the call-out list have been offered the work and they have either accepted, declined or were not contacted, and there is still a need for additional help. Should this occur, the journeyman to Apprentice ratio must be at lest three (3) to one (1).

#### 11.4.1 Switching

One (1) journeyman lineman, one (1) substation technician, or one (1) relay control wiring technician may perform low voltage switching, such as closing or reopening power circuit breakers by low voltage switch operation, turning load tap changers to manual or automatic, ground trip switching, or the operation of under-frequency tripping controls, consistent with Section 11.3.5, provided the employee has immediate two-way communications with the Power Control Center. In addition, powerhouse operators may switch in substations that are adjacent to and part of an established powerhouse.

## Section 11.5 Line Patrol

All line patrol will be done by journeyman lineman or duly constituted line crews. Management shall retain the right to inspect for extent of damage and surveillance of its operations.

# Section 11.6 Mechanical Digging Equipment

Mechanical digging equipment will be operated by qualified journeyman linemen; provided that operators currently employed by the Employer may operate such equipment. If mechanical digging equipment is to be operated at a location at which other line construction employees are not then working, a minimum of two (2) journeyman linemen will be assigned to the excavation crew, but the second of such employees may be assigned to install cable in the trench, or to perform other work while assisting the employee operating the excavation equipment.

# Section 11.7 Shop Work

The testing, repair, and rebuilding of transformers, oil circuit reclosers, sectionalizers, voltage regulators, and other electrical apparatus will be done by qualified journeyman linemen who may be assisted by apprentices. Nothing in this paragraph precludes work performed by Relay Control Wiring Techs/Substation Linemen as specified in the June 7, 1999 Letter of Understanding concerning Relay Control Wiring Technicians, Substation Technicians and Substation Lineman Classifications.

#### Section 11.8 High Potting

All cable high potting and testing shall be done by journeyman lineman.

# Section 11.9 Inclement Weather

Employees who report for work on scheduled workday and who, because of inclement weather or comparable reasons, are unable to discharge their usual duties, will be paid for such day at the applicable rate; provided, however, that such employees may be assigned to other work; or participate in training and instruction pertinent to their employment, including first aid, safety, and hot-stick work.

## Section 11.10 Accommodations

The Employer will furnish a suitable line room with lockers for clothes, tools and other personal possessions and with facilities for drying clothing and equipment.

Section 11.11 Substation, Meter and Relay Department Crew Structure It is understood and agreed that, in the event only two (2) employees are working together, one (1) employee shall be responsible for the job and shall receive at least the same wage rate as a leadman. In the event three (3) or more employees are working together, one (1) employee shall be responsible for the job and receive the same wage rate as foreman.

#### 11.11.1

When circuits or instruments supply both metering equipment and relaying equipment, the appropriate supervisor will assign employees to work in areas defined by their classifications in Section 11.1 or relevant position descriptions.

# Section 11.12 Show-up Shop

For Cooper Landing crew, show-up will be in Cooper Landing. For all other classifications, show-up will be at the Employer's Headquarters Building-Operations complex in Anchorage. The Employer and the Union may mutually agree on a case-by-case basis to change the show-up location to compete for maintenance/construction projects.

## Section 11.13 Picket Line

No employee shall be disciplined for refusing to cross a recognized and sanctioned picket line.

## Section 11.14 Tree Trimming

The trimming of trees in dangerous proximity to energized circuits will be done by journeyman lineman, or qualified tree trimmers.

## Section 11.15

The following position definitions have been moved from Article 11.1 and are incorporated in Job Classifications which have been mutually agreed upon by the Union and Employer through the Classification Committee of Article 15 Section 15.3:

Construction and Maintenance Foreman
Construction and Maintenance Helper
Construction and Maintenance Man
Foreman
Journeyman Lineman
Leadman
Maintenance Man
Meter Reader
Senior Meter Reader
Meter Technician
Senior Meter Technician
Relay/Control Wiring Technician
Senior Relay/Control Wiring Technician
PCB Apparatus Lineman

PCB Apparatus Foreman
Substation Foreman
Substation Leadman
Substation Lineman
Warehouse Foreman
Warehouse Trainee
Warehouseman
Senior Substation Technicians
Substation Technicians
Utility Arborist

# Section 11.16 New Technology

The use of new equipment, technology or procedures which replace or supersede existing equipment, technology or procedures currently utilized to perform bargaining unit work, shall remain bargaining unit work. It is recognized that employees covered by this Agreement may be required to maintain competency and skills as new technology is introduced. Whenever an employee is assigned to new technology, procedures or equipment, the employer will provide and the employee will undertake any necessary training and assimilate any new skills which may be required.

#### **ARTICLE 12**

## **MISCELLANEOUS**

# Section 12.1 Emergencies

The Employer is engaged in furnishing a vital public service which may under certain circumstances pose a serious threat to life and property. Therefore, notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement relating to the limiting of work, the composition of work forces and the assignment of duties, all employees will be expected to do any work that is reasonably necessary to the saving of life or the prevention of serious injury to persons or property.

#### Section 12.2 Communications and Notices

All communications between the parties that are contemplated or required by this Agreement will be in writing and will be delivered to the business office of the Union and the Employer. Wherever provision is made in this Agreement for the delivery of a communication or notice to the other party within a specified period, such notice of communications will be considered to have been delivered when it has been deposited in the United States mail, registered or certified, properly addressed to such other party's mail address of record, and with adequate postage prepaid or when delivered by messenger with written receipt of delivery.

# Section 12.3 Savings Clause

If any article, section or provision of this Agreement or any subsequent amendment hereof is rendered or declared invalid by reason of any statute, ordinance, regulation, or other law, or by the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidation will not affect the remaining portions of this Agreement and such other portions will remain in full force and effect. Upon the invalidation of any article, section, provision, or amendment hereof, the parties shall, within thirty (30) days from the date that notice of the invalidity is received, in good faith negotiate and agree on lawful and enforceable amendments or modifications that will effectuate the parties' original intent. The parties may agree to extent the thirty (30) day time period by mutual consent.

## Section 12.4 Identification Cards

Employer will provide employees with I.D. cards which will serve to identify the individual as an employee of the Employer.

#### **ARTICLE 13**

## **HEALTH, WELFARE AND PENSION PLANS**

Section 13.1 Health, Welfare and Life Insurance Plan

Employer agrees to participate in and contribute to the Alaska Electrical Health and Welfare Fund ("Fund") for the purpose of providing certain health and welfare benefits to those employees covered under Plan 312 (\$725/month). The Employer shall pay the current monthly premium of \$7251,022.00 (Base amount) for each employee.

Upon-the earlier of the first-premium-change after the effective date of this Agreement-or September 1, 2000, the employee-shall-pay 5%-of the health & welfare premium, and the employer-shall-pay-95% of the health & welfare premium

In the event of subsequent premium changes, the employee/employer premium allocation shall be determined as follows:

For premium changes in excess of 10% per year the first year and 10% per year on average for subsequent years over the contract period the employee shall pay 25% above 110% of the <u>Base base \$725.00 amount premium (\$797.50)-</u>and 5% of the bBase amount of \$797.50.

Premium increases for less than a full 12 months will be weighted to calculate the annual percentage increase.

The cumulative annual weighted average shall be for a plan year and shall be recalculated at each premium change and at the end of the plan year. The plan year (12 months) shall begin upon the earlier of the date of implementation of the first premium change or September  $1\underline{st}$ , 2000. For multiple increases within one (1) plan | year the average increase shall be the weighted average based on individual months.

For new employees, the payment shall not be made during the first month of employment unless their employment began before the 15th of that month, which payments will entitle such employees to receive the health and welfare benefits including extended dental, vision, and orthodontic coverage provided under the terms

and conditions lawfully adopted for the administration and management of such Fund. Employer agrees to enter into such further agreements, and to execute such instruments as may be legally required or convenient to its full participation in the foregoing Fund for, and on behalf of, its said employees.

#### 13.1.1

The Employer agrees to deduct, as authorized by the employee via enrollment form, health insurance supplemental payments from the post tax net pay of its employees eligible for supplemental payments and pay to the Alaska Electrical Health and Welfare Trust said authorized amount. In the event a Medical Section 125 Plan becomes available, the employee will have the option to participate. The Employer agrees to make this deduction in the full amount from the first pay period ending date of the month and send a check for the total amount, together with a list of the individual's names for whom the deductions were made, to the Alaska Electrical Health and Welfare Trust on or before the fifteenth (15) day of the following month.

The Union agrees that the Employer assumes no responsibility in connection with this deduction, except that of ordinary diligence and care in forwarding monies deducted as set forth in this Article. The Union shall indemnify the Employer and save the Employer harmless from any and all claims against the Employer only for amounts deducted from earnings pursuant to this agreement.

#### 13.1.2

The Employer will fund One Hundred percent (100%) of the Life Insurance benefits in the amount of \$40,000 per employee.

## Section 13.2 Pension Plan

Employer agrees to participate in, and to contribute to, the Alaska Electrical Pension Fund, a trust fund which was established pursuant to (1) an agreement between the Union and the Alaska Chapter of National Electrical Contractors Association, Inc., and (2) that certain Declaration of Trust Agreement entered into by the aforesaid parties for the purpose of providing pension benefits for those persons covered by the said agreement. Employer will pay into the said Fund the sum of \$3.67-\$5.50 effective July 1, 2006, \$6.00 effective July 1, 2007 and \$6.50 effective July 1, 2008 for each hour for which compensation is paid by Employer to those employees in job classification listed in Appendix A hereof. The foregoing payments to the Fund made by Employer will entitle the said covered employees of Employer to pension payments under such terms and conditions as may be lawfully provided for the administration and management of said Fund. The Employer's liability and responsibility shall be limited to making the foregoing payments. All payments due hereunder will be made to the said Fund on or before the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) day of the month following the month in which said compensable hours were earned by Employer's said employees.

The current CBA Specified the contribution rate was \$3.67; the new CBA Specifies \$5.50. The parties understand that \$3.67 amount was not accurate, and that movement of monies of \$1.33 increased the Pension Contribution to \$5.00. The only change the

parties have made is to increase Pension Contributions by \$0.50 on July 1, 2006; by \$0.50 on July 1, 2007 and by \$0.50 on July 1, 2008.

## 13.2.1 Pension Reallocation

Any covered employee who is a participant in the Alaska Employees Pension Trust Fund (AEPTF) may elect to reallocate the contributions made by the Employer to the AEPTF according to the rules regarding the reallocation of contributions from the Defined Benefit Plan to the Defined Contribution Plan as outlined in the Trust Plan documents. If an employee makes application to the Plan Administrator for the reallocation and the application is approved, the Plan Administrator will notify the Employer of the new allocation of contributions. The Employer agrees to remit future contributions according to such instructions. The allocation will continue in effect until the Plan Administrator notifies the employer of a subsequent reallocation. Such reallocations may occur no more than once annually. Nothing in this supplemental agreement will cause the Employer to contribute more or less on behalf of an employee than the amount specified in the collective bargaining agreement.

# Section 13.3 Alaska Electrical Legal Fund

The Employer shall contribute ten cents (\$.10) per compensable hour for each employee, but not to exceed forty (40) compensable hours per week per employee to the IBEW Group Legal Trust Fund. This shall take effect upon ratification of this Agreement and remain in effect hereafter. All payments due hereunder will be made by the Employer to the said Fund on or before the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) day of the month following the month in which said compensable hours were earned by Employer's said employees.

## Section 13.4 Political Action Committee Fund

With voluntary authorization by an employee on a form supplied by the Union, the Employer agrees to deduct a flat amount per pay period from the employee's wages to be submitted to the IBEW Local Union No. 1547, for its Political Action Fund. This money will be sent in monthly with the dues, and shall be made by the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) of the month following which the deduction was made. In accordance with requirements of Alaska State Law, the Union agrees that Political Action Committee Funds shall not be used for utility board elections.

#### **ARTICLE 14**

# **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

#### Section 14.1

Employees covered by this Agreement shall be compensated pursuant to the wage rates set forth in Appendix A hereof.

# Section 14.2 Assignability

This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto, and no provisions, terms or obligations herein contained shall be affected, modified, altered, or changed in any respect whatsoever by the consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, or assignment of either party hereto, or by any change, geographic or otherwise, in the location or place of business of either party hereto.

#### Section 14.3

The Letter of Understanding between the Employer and the Union concerning Relay/Control Wiring Technicians, Substation Technicians and Substation Lineman classifications dated 6-3-99 shall become and remain part of the Outside Plant Personnel Agreement.

## **ARTICLE 15**

## LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

# Section 15.1 Labor Management Committee

A Labor-Management Committee, consisting of the General Manager and two representatives from management, the Union Business Representative and two representatives from the employer group, will meet during working hours at the request of either party, as necessary. It is agreed the parties will only request a meeting when there is a reasonable, good faith belief that such a meeting will be mutually beneficial. Requests for meetings will not be made to harass or burden the other party.\_\_The Committee will not have the authority to alter the meaning or cost application of the collective bargaining agreement.

## Section 15.2 Job Classifications

The parties recognize the Employer's bargaining unit job classifications as listed and contained in this Agreement, and that such classifications have been agreed upon and are in existence upon the signing of this Agreement.

The parties recognize that new job classifications may be created or that existing job classifications may be changed during the life of this Agreement—if—negotiated—and mutually agreed to by the Union. Such changes shall be negotiated and agreed upon, and—if—not—agreed—upon, resolved—pursuant to the Classification Committee and arbitration—its procedures within the—Collective—Bargaining—Agreementas set forth in Section 15.3 and Section 15.3.1.

#### Section 15.3 Classification Committee

The Union and the Employer shall immediately-establish a standing-internal-utilize Classification Committees consisting of two (2) management representatives appointed by the General-Manager-CEO, or designee, and two (2) bargaining unit representatives appointed by the Business-Representative Manager or designee. The primary purpose

of the Classification Committee shall be the review of newly proposed job classifications or changes in existing classifications falling within the scope of this Agreement.

The Employer agrees to submit changes in job descriptions for review and comment to the Classification Committee prior to implementing such change and that it will continue to seek consensus and work collaboratively with the Union prior to implementation, recognizing that such decisions are best made by mutual agreement whenever possible.

If an agreement cannot be reached by the Classification Committee and the matter is submitted to arbitration, the Employer may implement the necessary changes. However if an arbitration decision results in any pay changes they will e made retroactive to the date the employee(s) began performing the duties in the proposed job description. The procedure for review and comment shall be as follows:

#### 15.3.1 Classification Committee Procedure

(a) When the Employer or the Union requires—believes creation of a new job classification is appropriate or either party wishes to propose changes to existing classifications the following procedure shall be followed to ensure efficiencies in the process.

Step One: If-the-proposal-is-a-change-to-an-existing-classification the-affected-employee(s)-and-supervisor-will-first-meet-to discuss-the-changes-and-create-a-draft-of-the-proposed revision.—The-Shop-Steward-will-be-kept-informed-of-the meetings-taking-place-during-this-step-of-the-process.

Step TwoOne: The draft-will then be submitted to the Manager of Employee Relations who will—The moving party will prepare a proposal identifying the changes sought and forward it to the Vice President of Human Resources (HR) who will then distribute it to the Classification Committee for review and consideration. The Vice President of HR will complete the formal drafting of a new or revised classification, if necessary.

Step Three Two: The Classification Committee will meet within thirty—(30)—seven (7) calendar days of the Committee members' receipt of the proposal on newly proposed position descriptions or to discuss changes to existing position descriptions, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the parties. Committee members unable to attend in person shall attend telephonically.

Step Four Three: The Classification Committee will use—due diligence, including the concept of interest based bargaining when—examining—newly—proposed—job—classifications—or changes—in-existing-classifications.—It-is the obligation-of the Committee to-reach a D-decision within seven days of the meeting and that—the decision of the majority of the Committee shall be final, except as provided below.

Step Five Four:

If the Classification Committee does not agree on the establishment of the new job classification or the proposed changes, or does not render a decision within the timeframe noted above, unless the delay is the result of extensions of time requested by the Employer, the matter I must be submitted to and reviewed by a-Classification/Labor Management—Committee—comprised—of—the—Manager—of Employee-Relations, the Business-Representative-and-the Classification—Committee—members—for—resolution.—If—the parties-are-unable-to-resolve-the-issue(s),-the appropriate Senior Vice President Executive-Manager-or-designee. The Executive-Manager or designee Senior Vice President will be the tie breaker with respect to the creation of a new or the modification of an existing classification. If the parties deadlock regarding appropriate compensation for the new or modified job classification the matter will proceed immediately to arbitration.

- (b) No regular employee will be laid-off, terminated or discharged by the Employer as a result of the Employer's creation of a new classification or the modification of an existing classification.
- (c) The Employer agrees that when establishing new or revised job classifications it will not unilaterally remove the Journeyman Lineman requirement for any existing job classification. The removal of the Journeyman Lineman requirement from any existing job classification requires mutual agreement by the Union and the Employer.

# SIGNATURE PAGE

# **APPROVED BY:**

Chugach Electric Association, Inc. "Employer"	International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 1547 "Union"

Appendix A

Job Classifications and Wage Rates

	July 1, 2006	<u>July 1, </u>	July 1,	July 1, 2009
	6%	<u>2007</u>	<u>2008</u>	COLA
		5%	5%	
Job Classification/Year	July 1, 2006	July 1,	July 1,	July 1, 2009
		2007	2008	
Foreman	\$40.45	\$42.47	\$44.59	CPI-U
Journeyman Lineman	\$35.84	<b>\$37.63</b>	\$39.51	CPI-U
Leadman	\$37.40	\$39.27	\$41.23	CPI-U
Swing Loop Wagon Leadman	\$43.11	\$45.27	\$47.53	CPI-U
Swing Loop Wagon Lineman	\$41.63	\$43.71	\$45.90	CPI-U
Mid Loop Wagon Leadman	\$47.06	\$49.41	\$51.88	CPI-U
Mid Loop Wagon Lineman	\$45.16	\$47.42	\$49.79	CPI-U
(Driver)				
Field Inspector	\$35.84	\$37.63	\$39.51	CPI-U
Mid Loop Wagon Foreman	\$50.93	<b>\$53.48</b>	<b>\$56.15</b>	CPI-U
Line Inspector	\$40.45	\$42.47	\$44.59	CPI-U
Meter Readers				
First Six Months	\$14.21	\$14.92	¢15 (7	CDI II
Second Six Months	\$14.21 \$16.81	\$14.92 \$17.65	\$15.67 \$18.53	CPI-U CPI-U
2nd & Subsequent Years	\$10.81 \$22.77	\$17.05 \$23.91	\$16.53 \$25.11	CPI-U
Sr. Meter Reader is 12 1/2% abo		\$23.91	\$25.11	CPI-U
	ve Buse Ruite			
Grandfathered Meter Readers				
Meter Reader Hired after	\$30.10	\$31.61	\$33.19	CPI-U
01/01/70				
Sr. Meter Reader after 1/1/70	\$34.04	\$35.74	\$37.53	CPI-U
Meter Reader Hired after	\$28.17	\$29.58	\$31.06	CPI-U
01/01/77				
Sr. Meter Reader after 01/01/77	\$32.25	\$33.86	\$35.55	CPI-U
Equipment Operator	C25 04	635 (3	220.51	CDIII
Equipment Operator Const & Maint Foreman	\$35.84 \$40.45	\$37.63 \$42.47	\$39.51 \$44.50	CPI-U
Const & Maint Foreman  Const & Maint Man	\$40.45 \$35.94	\$42.47 \$37.63	\$44.59 \$20.51	CPI-U
Const & Maint Helper	\$35.84 \$31.71	\$37.63 \$32.80	\$39.51 \$23.04	CPI-U
Maintenance Man	\$21.71 \$28.38	\$22.80 \$20.80	\$23.94 \$31.20	CPI-U
Sr. Relay/Control Wiring Tech		\$29.80 \$42.47	\$31.29 \$44.50	CPI-U
Sr. Meter Tech	\$40.45 \$40.45	\$42.47 \$42.47	\$44.59 \$44.50	CPI-U
Control Wiring Tech	\$40.45 \$35.84	\$42.47 \$37.63	\$44.59 \$39.51	CPI-U
Substation Technician, Senior	\$35. <b>64</b> \$40.45	\$37.63 \$42.47	\$39.51 \$44.59	CPI-U CPI-U
Substation Lineman, School	\$40.45 \$40.45			
Substation Lincingn, Schiol	340.43	\$42.47	\$44.59	CPI-U

Substation Lineman	\$35.84	\$37.63	\$39.51	CPI-U
Substation Leadman	\$37.39	\$39.26	\$41.23	CPI-U
Meter Tech	\$35.84	\$37.63	\$39.51	CPI-U
Cable Splicer Foreman	\$42.35	\$44,47	\$46.69	CPI-U
Warehouse Foreman	\$35.84	\$37.63	\$39.51	CPI-U
Wireman	\$35.84	\$37.63	\$39.51	CPI-U
Wiring Inspector	\$40.50	<b>\$42.53</b>	\$44.66	CPI-U
Cable Splicer	\$40.45	\$42.47	\$44.59	CPI-U
Night Shop Foreman	\$41.42	\$43.49	\$45.66	CPI-U
Warehouseman	\$32.76	\$34.40	\$36.12	CPI-U
Warehouse Trainee				
First Year	\$20.81	\$21.85	\$22.94	CPI-U
Second Year	\$24.20	\$25.41	\$26.68	CPI-U
Third Year	\$27.64	\$29.02	\$30.47	CPI-U
Fourth & Subsequent Years	\$32.76	\$34.40	S36.12	CPI-U
Night Warehouseman	\$34.88	\$36.62	\$38.45	CPI-U
Utility Arborist				
Step 1	\$32.289	\$33.90	\$35.60	CPI-U
Step 2	\$34.05	\$35.75	\$37.54	CPI-U
Step 3	\$35.85	\$37.64	\$39.52	CPI-U
Step 4	\$37.69	\$39.57	\$41.55	CPI-U
Sr. Shop Mechanic	\$35.84	\$37.63	\$39.51	CPI-U
Night Shop Mechanic	\$37.91	\$39.81	\$41.80	CPI-U
Mechanic	\$32.76	\$34.40	\$36.12	CPI-U
Mechanics Helper	\$21.71	\$22.80	\$23.94	CPI-U

	<u>1/1/00</u>
Foreman	\$35.77 \$36,31
Journey-Lineman	\$31.83 - \$32.31
l eadman	\$33.15 \$33.65
Swing-Loop-Wagon Leadman	\$38-04- \$38-61
Swing-Loop Wagon-Lineman	<b>\$3</b> 6.76 <b>\$37.31</b>
Mid-Loop Wagon Leadman	\$41.41 \$42.03
Mid-Loop Wagon Lineman	\$39-79-\$40-39
Mid-Loop-Wagon Foreman	\$ <del>44.7</del> 1-\$45.38

ield-Inspector		<del>3</del> 1
Line-Inspector	<b>-\$35.77-\$36.3</b> 1	
Meter-Reader		
First-Six-Months	\$13.38	\$13 <del>.</del> 58
Second-Six-Months	<del>\$15:61</del>	<del>\$15.84</del>
Second-and-Subsequent-	Years\$20:69	\$2-1-00

Job-Glassifications	Wage Rates		
	<u> 1/1/00 7/1/00 7/1/01 7/1/02</u>		
Senior-Meter-Reader	12.5% above base-rate		
Grandfathered-Meter-Readers			
Meter-Reader-hired-after——1-1-70————————————————————————————————	\$30.31——\$30.76 \$25.29—\$25.67		
Equipment-Operator	\$31.83 <b>\$32.31</b>		
Construction-&-Maintenance-Foreman-	\$35.77\$36.31		
Gonstruction-&-Maintenance-Man	\$31 <del>.</del> 83\$3 <del>2.3</del> 1		
Maintenance Man	\$25.47\$25.85		
Gonstruction-&-Maintenance-Helper	\$19.77\$20.07		
Senior-Relay/Control-Wiring-Technician -	\$35.77\$36.31		
Relay/control-Wiring-Technician	\$31.83\$32.31		
Senior-Meter-Technician	\$35.77\$36.31		
Meter-Technician	\$31.83\$ <del>32.3</del> 1		
Cable Splicer Foreman	\$37.39 \$37.95		
Gable-Splicer	\$35.77\$36.31		
Field/Wiring-Inspector-	\$35:81\$ <b>36.3</b> 5		
Wireman	\$31.83\$32.31		
Job-Glassifications	<u>Wage</u> - <u>Rates</u>		
	<u> 1/1/00                                </u>		
Senior-Shop-Mechanic	\$31.83\$3 <del>2.</del> 31		
Mechanic	\$29.20-\$29.64		

Night-Shop Mechanic	\$33.59 \$34.09
Night-Shop-Foreman-	-\$36:61-\$37.16
Mechanic's-Helper	-\$19 <del>.77-\$2</del> 0.07
Warehouse Foreman	\$31,83,\$32,31
Warehouseman	\$29,20-\$29.64
Night-Warehouseman	-\$31.0 <del>2-\$</del> 31.49
Warehouse-Trainee	040.00
First	
Second	1-Year
	CO 4 O 4
Third-Y	ear
\$25.21	4lh a Out
	\$29.64
Senior-Substation-Lineman-	<del>-\$35.77-\$</del> 36 <del>.3</del> 1
Substation-Lineman	- \$31.83-\$32.31
Substation-Leadman	\$33.15\$33.65
Senior-Substation-Technician	-\$35-7-7-\$36.31
Substation-Technician	\$31.83 \$32.31
<u>Job</u> - <u>Classifications</u> ————————————————————————————————————	
	<u>1/1/00</u> <u>7/1/00</u> <u>7/1/01</u> <u>7/1/02</u>
(2)	-\$28.80-\$29.23 -\$30.32-\$30.77
· ·	\$31.84-\$32.32
<del>(4)</del>	\$33:43 <del>\$33.</del> 93